

Bioelectrochemical systems for enhanced nitrogen removal with minimal greenhouse gas emission from carbon-deficient wastewater: A review

Hongbo Liu, Song Qin, Anze Li, Jian Wen, Eric Lichtfouse, Heping Zhao, Xianzhong Zhang

▶ To cite this version:

Hongbo Liu, Song Qin, Anze Li, Jian Wen, Eric Lichtfouse, et al.. Bioelectrochemical systems for enhanced nitrogen removal with minimal greenhouse gas emission from carbon-deficient wastewater: A review. Science of the Total Environment, 2023, 859 (Part 1), pp.160183. 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2022.160183 . hal-03874432

HAL Id: hal-03874432 https://hal.science/hal-03874432

Submitted on 28 Nov 2022

HAL is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers.

L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.

Review

Bioelectrochemical systems for enhanced nitrogen removal with minimal greenhouse gas emission from carbon-deficient wastewater: A review

Hongbo Liu^{a,*,1}, Song Qin^{a,1}, Anze Li^a, Jian Wen^a, Eric Lichtfouse^b, Heping Zhao^c, Xianzhong Zhang^d

^a School of Environment and Architecture, University of Shanghai for Science and Technology, 516 Jungong Road, 200093 Shanghai, China

^b Aix-Marseille Univ, CNRS, IRD, INRA, Coll France, CEREGE, 13100 Aix en Provence, France

^c College of Environmental and Resources Sciences, Zhejiang University, 866 Yuhang Tang Road, 310058 Hangzhou, China

^d Shanghai Urban Construction Design & Research Institute [Group] Co., Ltd., 3447 Dongfang Road, 200125 Shanghai, China

- Optimization of Control of cathode Process optimization potential and current electrical conductivity Avoidance of electron receptor inhibition of N₂O reductase NH Enhanced denitrification and power generation NO NO, Cathode Carbon-deficient wastewater Process coupling Modulation parameters Filling materials Electrode Modified Cvcle reversal Avoiding Exogenous substance addition or polarity reversal modification membrane electron competition
- · Classical treatments do not remove N entirely from carbon-deficient wastewater.
- · Coupling BES with emerged methods improves nitrogen removal and produces electricity.
- · BES also allows one to reduce N2O emissions through multifactorial modulation.
- · Novel insights and future directions to upscale BES technologies are provided.

ABSTRACT

Editor: Frederic Coulon

Keywords: Bioelectrochemical systems Electricity production Multi-species inorganic nitrogen Nitrous oxide

Nitrogen pollution and the rising amount of wastewater generation are calling for advanced wastewater treatments, which is particularly necessary for carbon-deficient wastewater that contains multi-species inorganic nitrogen, since conventional heterotrophic denitrification processes cannot remove nitrogen completely when carbon sources are insufficient. For that, bioelectrochemical systems (BES) have been recently developed because they can simultaneously produce electricity and remove resistant nitrogen from the carbon-deficient wastewater. However, the simultaneous removal of multi-species inorganic nitrogen cannot be achieved by electroautotrophic denitrification using BES alone. Moreover, the efficiency of nitrogen removal and power generation has been thwarted by the low energy output, high internal resistance of the device, and electron competition in non-denitrification pathways. This review article discusses the latest developments for nitrogen removal through BES-enhanced denitrification and elucidates multiple coupled BES-based denitrification pathways to remove multi-species inorganic nitrogen simultaneously. Focus points of the research area include coupling BES technologies with emerged methods, electron transfer enhancement, and avoiding electron competition that improves performance with less cost. The prospect of reducing emissions of greenhouse gases is also critically reviewed, in the hope of reducing potential intermediate products of denitrification, such as nitrous oxide (a potent greenhouse gas), through multi-factor regulation. We imply that BES is a good choice for future scale-up applications of MFC coupled with MEC to treat carbon-deficient wastewater. Overall, this review will provide useful information for the development of advanced technologies to treat carbon-deficient wastewater with less emission of greenhouse gases.

* Corresponding author at: 516, Jungong Road, 200093 Shanghai, China.

E-mail addresses: Liuhb@usst.edu.cn (H. Liu), eric.lichtfouse@inra.fr (E. Lichtfouse), zhaohp@zju.edu.cn (H. Zhao).

¹ Hongbo Liu and Song Qin contribute equally to this work.

Carbon-deficient wastewater Enhanced denitrification

Abbrevia	tions						
BES	Bioelectrochemical systems;						
NH_4^+	ammonia nitrogen						
NO_3^-	nitrate nitrogen						
NO_2^-	nitrite nitrogen						
BOD	biochemical oxygen demand						
TN	total nitrogen						
MFC	Microbial fuel cell						
MEC	Microbial electrolytic cell						
N_2	nitrogen gas						
SND	simultaneous nitrification-denitrification						
Anammo	x anaerobic ammonia oxidation						
N_2O	nitrous oxide						
SHE	standard potential with standard hydrogen electrode						
SDAD	Sulfur-driven autotrophic denitrification						
NZVI	nano-zero valent iron						
FeS ₂	pyrite						
H_2	Hydrogen gas						
AOB	ammonia-oxidizing bacteria						
NOB	nitrite-oxidizing bacteria						
DEA	Diethylamine-functionalized polymers						
PRBES	Periodic reversal bioelectrocoagulation system						
NLCE	nematic liquid crystal electrode						
PyAno	pyrite as an anodic						
BER	biofilm-electrode reactor						
Pt	platinum						
Gf	graphite felt						
GAC	granular activated carbon						
3D-BES	three-dimensional electrode BES						
HAlk	protonated alkalinity						
Nar	NO_3^- reductase						
Nir	NO_2^- reductase						
Nor	nitric oxide reductase						
Nos	nitrous oxide reductase						
FNA	free NO_2^- acid						

Contents

1.	Introd	luction .							
2.	Bioele	ectrochem	ical autotrophic denitrification of multiple nitrogen compounds						
	2.1.	. Supply path of anode electrons							
		2.1.1.	Electron supply based on organic matter						
		2.1.2.	Sulfide-based electron supply						
		2.1.3.	Iron-based electron supply						
		2.1.4.	NH ₄ ⁺ -based electronic supply						
		2.1.5.	Hydrogen-based electron supply						
	2.2.	Autotro	phic simultaneous nitrification and denitrification						
	2.3.	Autotro	phic short-range simultaneous nitrification and denitrification						
	2.4.	Anamm	ox-denitrification/ammonia oxidation-anammox coupled pathway5						
3.	Challe	strategies for BES-based treatment with scale-up applications							
	3.1.	Challen	ges of BES treatment for carbon-deficient wastewater with scale-up applications						
	3.2.	Strategi	es to enhance BES synchronous denitrification and power production						
		3.2.1.	Coupling of multitype BES-based processes to improve the lack of electron donors						
		3.2.2.	Modification and optimization of electrode materials						
		3.2.3.	Filling materials						
		3.2.4.	Improving the wettability of membrane materials						
		3.2.5.	Addition of exogenous substances						
		3.2.6.	Role of buffers and their by-products						
		3.2.7.	Cycle reversal and/or polarity reversal						
		3.2.8.	Electron competition						
		3.2.9.	Other strategies						

4. Challenges and	hallenges and strategies reducing N ₂ O production in BES							
4.1. Challe	nges of N ₂ O reduction based on the principles of BES $\dots \dots \dots$							
4.2. Strates	gies to reduce N_2O production in BES							
4.2.1.	Optimization of electrical conductivity							
4.2.2.	Control of cathode potential and current							
4.2.3. Process optimization								
4.2.4.	Avoidance of electron receptor inhibition of N_2O reductase							
4.2.5.	Other strategies							
5. Conclusion and future prospects								
CRediT authorship	contribution statement							
Data availability	15							
Declaration of competing interest								
Acknowledgments								
References	References							

1. Introduction

The rising stringent laws of environmental protection call for improved treatment efficiency of wastewater (Hu et al., 2020; Porse et al., 2020). In particular, advanced methods are required to remove nitrogen-containing pollutants completely (Chu et al., 2022). Carbon-deficient wastewater refers to the lack of biodegradable organic matter due to the lack of carbon source itself or excessive consumption of carbon source due to unreasonable wastewater treatment process design. Biochemical oxygen demand (BOD₅)/total nitrogen (TN) ratio of the typical carbon-deficient wastewater is generally below 2 and thus is difficult to carry out heterotrophic denitrification. Carbon-deficient wastewater includes a wide range of municipal and industrial sources and secondary effluents from biochemical treatment of domestic, industrial, and agricultural wastewater. Carbon-deficient wastewater also includes tail-water with limited carbon source such as toilet recycling flushing water, secondary effluents from wastewater treatment plants, and industrial and agricultural wastewater tail-water from the fertilizer, coking, breeding, livestock and poultry industries (Cao et al., 2019; Chen et al., 2022). The annual production of carbondeficient wastewater is estimated to reach 60 billion tons by 2030 in China for municipal treatment plants (Chang and Wang, 2015). Therefore, the development of effective technologies for enhanced denitrification of carbon-deficient wastewater is of rising interest.

Enhanced nitrogen removal from carbon-deficient wastewater is a challenge, due to the lack of biodegradable organic matter in the wastewater and its co-exiting with multi-species of nitrogen pollutants such as ammonia nitrogen $(NH_4)^+$, nitrate nitrogen (NO_3^-) and nitrite nitrogen (NO_2^-) (Yu et al., 2019). For efficient heterotrophic denitrification, the BOD₅/TN ratio should be higher than 4, whereas the typical BOD₅/TN ratios is generally lower than 2 in the carbon-deficient wastewater. Consequently, methanol and sodium acetate are often added to provide sufficient electron donors for heterotrophic denitrification. But this strategy increases the operating cost and causes greenhouse gas (CO2 equivalents) emissions (Jin, 2017). Similarly, complementary methods such as reverse osmosis, electrodialysis, ion exchange, and chemical ammonia oxidation do not meet carbon neutrality concepts due to their high energy consumption and expensive operating costs (Singh et al., 2022). Therefore, sustainable technologies are needed to recover resources such as electricity and remove nitrogen from carbon-deficient wastewater to reduce greenhouse gases emissions. For ameliorating nitrogen removal in carbon-deficient wastewater, bioelectrochemical systems (BES) such as microbial fuel cells (MFC) and microbial electrolytic cells (MEC) are currently under intense research (Mier et al., 2021; Qin et al., 2022; Zhang et al., 2022).

BES technologies use microorganisms attached on both the cathode and the anode as enzymatic catalysts. The electrons generated on anode reach the cathode through an external circuit, and they are utilized by the cathode microorganisms for reduction of oxidized nitrogen (NO_3^-/NO_2^-) to nitrogen gas (N_2) (Su and Chen, 2022). BES allows partial or complete autotrophic denitrification of carbon-deficient wastewater, with either reduced or zero extra dosage of chemicals acting as electron donors.

So far, most studies concerning BES-enhanced nitrogen removal from wastewater are conducted mainly under single-contaminant conditions, such as autotrophic denitrification of a single nitrogen-compound in water. Whereas multiple nitrogen compounds coexist in most actual effluents (Ahmed et al., 2012), it is necessary to seek a coupled BES-based denitrification pathway. Performance enhancement with BES technologies have been confirmed in processes such as anodic ammonia oxidation (Oksuz and Beyenal, 2021), simultaneous nitrification-denitrification (SND) (Wang et al., 2020a), short-range SND (Dong et al., 2020), anaerobic ammonia oxidation (Anammox) (Zhang et al., 2020), and their combinations. However, the efficiency of nitrogen removal and electricity production has been thwarted by the following challenges: the low voltage output of a single MFC, high internal resistance, and electron competition with nondenitrification pathways (Cai et al., 2020). These issues can be ameliorated by coupling BES and emerging methods (e.g., electrical stimulation, photocatalysis) or by the multi-factor modulation. At the same time, BES coupling strategies are effective in reducing the emission of nitrous oxide (N₂O), a notorious gas with strong greenhouse potential (Nguyen and Babel, 2022). Of course, whether other greenhouse gases are reduced through BES coupling is also of interest.

Therefore, BES is a promising technology with advantages of simultaneous removal of multi-species inorganic nitrogen, reduced extra dosage of chemicals, high nitrogen removal rate and reduction of greenhouse gas emissions. BES-based methods for wastewater treatments have been wildly applied in nitrogen removal and had been recently reviewed in terms of energy consumption analysis and reactor configurations (Cecconet et al., 2018; Su and Chen, 2022). However, there have been no specific reviews on BES for enhanced denitrification of the carbon-deficient wastewater. Advances in BES-based denitrification need to be comprehensively reviewed. Here, we review BES-enhanced denitrification technologies for multispecies inorganic nitrogen carbon-deficient wastewater, and summarize the coupled denitrification pathways based on BES, focusing on BES coupled with emerged methods, electrode material modification, cathode electron competition factors, and electron transfer rates. Under the context of counting greenhouse gas emissions during wastewater treatment, N₂O control emissions from wastewater treatment plants had been reported in detail (Thakur and Medhi, 2019). However, there are few reviews of BESbased N₂O control emissions through multifactor regulation, and most of the current studies have been conducted in small-scale BESs. Thus, key principles on how to up-scale the BES enhanced technologies are another purpose of the review.

2. Bioelectrochemical autotrophic denitrification of multiple nitrogen compounds

The overall principle of denitrification in BES involves biodegradation of organics coupled with electrons generation at the anode, and the electrons are transferred to the cathode for NO_3^- reduction (Fig. 1). Electrons can also be produced by other electron donors. Therefore, organic and/or inorganic wastewater such as the brewery wastewater, starch processing



Fig. 1. Overview of electron donors and terminal electron acceptors for achieving denitration in a two-chamber bioelectrochemical systems (BES) configuration. The anode chamber is divided into conventional organics electron donors and other electron donors. The cathode chamber can undergo electro/hydrogen autotrophic denitrification and anaerobic ammonia oxidation (Anammox) in the absence of aeration. Simultaneous nitrification-denitrification (SND), short-range SND, and oxygen competition for electrons can occur under aeration.

plant wastewater, pharmaceutical wastewater, and tannery wastewater can be dosed to the anode of the reactor and used as electron donors.

2.1. Supply path of anode electrons

2.1.1. Electron supply based on organic matter

Organic matter-driven electroautotrophic denitrification uses organic matters as the electron donor (Eq. (1), Clauwaert et al., 2007). Those electrons are then utilized by the electroautotrophic denitrifying bacteria at the cathode to reduce electron acceptors such as NO_2^- and NO_3^- to N_2 , and to generate electricity simultaneously. The denitrification process can be divided into four reduction steps, where the complete reduction of 1 mol NO_2^- and $1 \mod NO_3^-$ to N_2 requires the consumption of 3 mol and 5 mol of electrons, respectively (Eqs. (2)–(5)). Therefore, the reduction of nitrogen compounds such as NO_2^- and NO_3^- depends on the electron flow from the biocathode (Puig et al., 2011).

$$NO_3^- + 2 e^- + 2 H^+ \rightarrow NO_2^- + H_2O E^{o'} = +0.433 V vs SHE$$
 (2)

 $NO_2^- + e^- + 2 H^+ \rightarrow NO + H_2O E^{o'} = +0.350 V \text{ vs SHE}$ (3)

 $NO + e^{-} + H^{+} \rightarrow 1/2N_{2}O + 1/2H_{2}O E^{o'} = +1.175 V vs SHE$ (4)

$$1/2N_2O + e^- + H^+ \rightarrow 1/2N_2 + 1/2H_2O E^{o'} = +1.355 V \text{ vs SHE}$$
 (5)

* SHE: standard potential with standard hydrogen electrode.

2.1.2. Sulfide-based electron supply

Sulfur-driven autotrophic denitrification (SDAD) uses sulfur and sulfur compounds such as sulfide and thiosulfate as electron donors and reducing sludge production, without dosing organic carbon chemicals (Wang et al., 2020a). The anode of MECs is controlled at the positive potential to produce electrons by sulfide oxidation (Eq. (6), Kato et al., 2012).

$$S^{2^{-}} - 2e^{-} \rightarrow S \tag{(1)}$$

The oxidation of sulfide to sulfur depends on the oxidation-reduction potential, while increasing the anodic potential promotes further oxidation of sulfur (Eq. (7), Rabaey et al., 2006).

$$S^{2-} - 8e^{-} + 4H_2O \rightarrow SO_4^{2-} + 8H^+$$
 (7)

Sulfur can be recycled as a resource, while sulfate is an undesirable contaminant. Wang et al. (2018a) found that sulfur production decreased and sulfide removal increased with increasing anode potential. The optimal anode potential for sulfur recovery and sulfide removal ranges from -188 mV to -146 mV. Therefore, the anode potential should be controlled for simultaneous sulfur recovery and denitrification.

2.1.3. Iron-based electron supply

Iron can also act as electron donor under anaerobic conditions. For example, Li et al. (2019) designed an iron fuel cell bioreactor with iron as the abiotic anode and the electron donor. The generated electrons convert a portion of NO_3^- to NO_2^- at the cathode, enhancing the heterotrophic denitrification efficiency of the carbon-deficient wastewater. It avoids the reaction between nano-zero valent iron (NZVI) and NO_3^- to generate NH_4^+ at the cathode, which reduces the inhibitory effect on microorganisms. To reduce the operation cost, Ge et al. (2020) used pyrite (FeS₂), which is prevalent in artificial wetlands, to provide a dual electron donor of iron and sulfur to enhance nitrogen removal from the carbon-deficient wastewater while achieving electricity production (Eqs. (8)–(9)).

$$Fe^{2+} - e^{-} \rightarrow Fe^{3+} \tag{8}$$

$$S^{-1} + 4H_2O \rightarrow SO_4^{2-} + 8H^+ + 7e^-$$
 (9)

2.1.4. NH₄⁺-based electronic supply

6)

When a current is applied between the cathode and anode of the MEC, the bacteria on the anode can oxidize NH_4^+ to NO_2^- (Koffi and Okabe, 2021). In addition, NH_4^+ can be anaerobically oxidized to NO_3^- if the MEC anode acts as the electron acceptor (Qu et al., 2014). Therefore, NH_4^+ can be used as an anode fuel in MEC. However, the simultaneous oxidation of organic carbon and ammonia at the bioanode is more complex and flexible than the anodic ammonia oxidation alone (Zheng et al., 2020). This co-oxidation process releases electrons. Some electrons flow to the anode microorganisms to trigger metabolic activities, or reach the cathode to react with dioxygen. Therefore, it is crucial to direct the electrons generated by the anode to the denitrification pathway.

2.1.5. Hydrogen-based electron supply

Hydrogen autotrophic denitrification has received attention in recent years as a clean and economical process (Eqs. (10), (11)). Hydrogen gas (H₂) is one of the most favorable thermodynamic electron donors for denitrification (Di Capua et al., 2019). For instance, the additional voltage in MECs is small, of 0.2–0.8 V, to drive H₂ evolution at the cathode, which is much lower than the voltage required for water electrolysis (1.8– 3.5 V) (Katuri et al., 2019). In addition, the H₂ production rate of MEC is proportional to the applied voltage over a range of values, making the process controllable (Call and Logan, 2008).

$$H_2O + e^- \rightarrow H_2 + OH^- \tag{10}$$

$$NO_{3}^{-} + 2.5H_{2} + H^{+} \rightarrow 0.5N_{2} + 3H_{2}O$$
(11)

2.2. Autotrophic simultaneous nitrification and denitrification

The autotrophic nitrification and denitrification (SND) coupled pathway enables simultaneous removal of several NH₄⁺-containing compounds, where nitrification consists of a two-step process in which the ammonia-oxidizing bacteria (AOB) oxidizes NH₄⁺ to NO₂⁻ under aerobic conditions, and the nitrite-oxidizing bacteria (NOB) oxidizes NO₂⁻ to NO₃⁻ (Eqs. (12), (13)). The SND biofilm presents a structure in which the electroautotrophic denitrifying bacteria is attached to the electrode surface and nitrifying bacteria surround them to occupy the outer part of the biofilm (Lai et al., 2020).

$$NH_4^+ + 1.5O_2 \rightarrow NO_2^- + H_2O + 2H^+$$
 (12)

$$NO_2^- + 0.5O_2 \rightarrow NO_3^- \tag{13}$$

SND has two main advantages: (1) The products of the nitrification reaction, NO_2^- and NO_3^- , are the direct substrates for the denitrification reaction, which accelerates the nitrification reaction. (2) The nitrification reaction can consume the alkalinity released by denitrification, which makes the pH relatively stable in the system. Dissolved oxygen is a critical factor in achieving cathodic SND. At dissolved oxygen levels below 2 mg/L, NO_3^- and NO_2^- are used as electron acceptors. In contrast, at dissolved oxygen levels above 2 mg/L, dioxygen is the primary cathodic electron acceptor (Wang et al., 2020c). The cathode is the main factor limiting the high and stable power generation of MFC (Tran et al., 2022). In particular, dioxygen competes with NO_3^- for electrons in the cathode chamber, affecting the cathode denitrification rate.

Initially, MFCs were combined with an external aerobic nitrification reactor to convert NH_4^+ to NO_3^- externally, which was then recycled to the MFC cathode chamber for denitrification (Virdis et al., 2008). However, the system design with an external nitrification bioreactor is difficult to apply in the practical engineering. The designed tubular or three-chamber MFC (dual cathode) implements nitrification in the external cathode, an aerobic cathode, and bioelectrochemical denitrification in the internal cathode, an anoxic cathode (Zhang and He, 2012). However, separation with an anion/cation exchange membrane between the anode and the dual cathode increases operating costs. For this reason, single-chamber MFCs have been investigated, using a bottom anode and a top rotating cathode, where the SND reaction occurs at the cathode. Here, the three phases of air, solution, and biofilm interact to complete external nitrification and internal denitrification for carbon-deficient wastewater denitrification. To further improve coulombic efficiency, voltage output and power density, the addition of sponges can reduce the charge transfer resistance and solution resistance of the cathode (Deng et al., 2018).

2.3. Autotrophic short-range simultaneous nitrification and denitrification

In recent years, short-range SND in BES with low NOB activity, and thus low NO₃⁻ production, has been widely studied because this minimizes aeration costs with minimum C/N requirements (Nguyen and Babel, 2022). Theoretically, this pathway saves 25 % of the required aeration and 40 % of the carbon source compared to using NO₃⁻ as the electron acceptor, since the C/N ratio required for the reduction of NO₂⁻ is 1.72 versus 2.86 required for the reduction of NO₃⁻, and sludge production is reduced by 40 % in the short-range SND process. Therefore, the short-range SND is more advantageous in treating carbon-deficient wastewater.

Dissolved oxygen is also a critical factor. On the one hand, organic matter in the wastewater will be degraded under aerobic condition. Oxygen can be transferred from the cathode to the anode, reducing the coulomb efficiency (Bavasso et al., 2018). On the other hand, high dissolved oxygen in the cathode chamber can inhibit denitrification. Ammonia oxidation at low dissolved oxygen, around 0.5 mg/L, resulted in NO₂⁻ accumulation. Whereas at dissolved oxygen levels higher than 5.0 mg/L, NH₄⁺ is directly oxidized to NO₃⁻ without NO₂⁻ accumulation (Li et al., 2016). Since very low dissolved oxygen (below 1 mg/L) can adversely affect the power generation of BES and high dissolved oxygen can lead to higher aeration costs, the dissolved oxygen concentration should be optimized.

The C/N ratio significantly affects the denitrification efficiency. Relatively high C/N ratios above 2.6 did not always produce high nitrogen removal loading rates, probably due to the competition between heterotrophic and autotrophic organisms for carbon sources. Considering nitrogen removal and SND efficiency, a C/N of 2.0 is considered to be an optimal operating condition (Yang et al., 2021). Therefore, the activity balance of heterotrophic and autotrophic organisms enables short-range SND more suitable for denitrification of the carbon-deficient wastewater (Jiaqi et al., 2020).

2.4. Anammox-denitrification/ammonia oxidation-anammox coupled pathway

Anammox is a process of anaerobic oxidation of NH_4^+ by a specific microbiota using NO_2^- as the electron acceptor to produce N_2 . As a consequence, anammox could be widely used in the world of wastewater treatment when the influent composition is suitable (Yangin-Gomec et al., 2017). The advantages of the anammox process save cost for aeration and external carbon source dosage. When 1 mol NH_4^+ is oxidized, 1.32 mol NO_2^- is consumed, but 0.26 mol NO_3^- by-products are produced (Eq. (14), Chen et al., 2021).

$$\begin{array}{l} \mathrm{NH}_{4}^{+} + 1.32NO_{2}^{-} + 0.066HCO_{3}^{-} + 0.13H^{+} \rightarrow 1.02N_{2} + 0.26NO_{3}^{-} \\ + 0.066CH_{2}O_{0.5}N_{0.15} + 2.03H_{2}O \end{array} \tag{14}$$

Therefore, the theoretical maximum TN removal in anammox is only 89 % (Liang et al., 2015). A BES-denitrification unit could be integrated into the anammox system. 96.3 % of TN removal was achieved using anammox sludge as an anode microbial catalyst to drive the electrocatalytic reduction of NO_3^- in the SnCu-Pd/CFC catalytic cathode, with maximum voltage and power density of 39.8 mV and 21.20 \pm 0.05 mW/m³, respectively (Zhang et al., 2020). The aeration system used in the ammonia oxidation-BES still consumed a lot of energy. Replacing the aeration system with biological oxygen production technologies would reduce the carbon emissions of ammonia oxidation-BES. For instance, the integration of ammonia oxidation and microalgae is promising. Indeed, the dioxygen produced by microalgae during the day would provide sufficient dissolved oxygen for partial conversion of NH_4^+ to NO_2^- , and at night the microalgae would consume dissolved oxygen to form an anoxic state, which would be more favorable for anammox to remove the remaining ammonia (Ghimire et al., 2021).

3. Challenges and strategies for BES-based treatment with scale-up applications

3.1. Challenges of BES treatment for carbon-deficient wastewater with scale-up applications

Surprisingly, after more than two decades of development, the bottlenecks of unstable performances and low power production of carbondeficient wastewater treatments with BES remain unsolved, especially in scale-up applications (scaling BES from the lab to the practical engineering applications). Power density and reactor configuration have been reported as major influencing factors (Selvasembian et al., 2022). Therefore, given the current situation of low energy output, it is wiser to use the weak current generated by BES to enhance denitrification, instead of recycling current as electric energy (Liu et al., 2021). Other influencing factors and optimization strategies are necessary to be explored for future practical applications.

3.2. Strategies to enhance BES synchronous denitrification and power production

Several strategies could enhance nitrogen removal and electricity production simultaneously (Fig. 2). The first strategy is to couple with emerging methods such as electrical stimulation and photocatalysis, to enhance autotrophic denitrification. There are also strategies such as modifying the electrode materials, filler materials, modified membrane materials, and parameter optimization to achieve a controllable design with a high electron transfer rate. These strategies improve nitrogen removal and electricity production efficiencies from carbon-deficient wastewater. It can be expected that the scaled-up application of BES enhanced denitrification of carbon-deficient wastewater can be achieved through the synergistic optimization of multiple strategies. Over the last decade, progresses have been made in simultaneous BESenhanced denitrification and power production. The upper part of the arrow in the figure depicts the development of electrode materials, while the lower part of the arrow represents other strategies, including specific strain screening, filler materials, and cyclic polarization (Jin et al., 2018; Lu et al., 2011; Srinivasan et al., 2019; Wang et al., 2021a; Xu et al., 2018; Yan et al., 2012, 2021; Zhu et al., 2015).

3.2.1. Coupling of multitype BES-based processes to improve the lack of electron donors

Due to the lack of organic electron donors in carbon-deficient wastewater, the power generation performance and denitrification efficiency of BES are limited. In addition to the previously described addition of inorganic electron donors, electrical stimulation techniques can also achieve enhanced denitrification in carbon-deficient wastewater. For instance, Zhang et al. (2014) fed electrical energy generated by MFC to a biofilmelectrode reactor (BER) and observed an increase in denitrifying bacteria abundance and enhanced nitrogen removal. To reduce the operating cost and to investigate the effect of weak electricity on enhanced denitrification, Liu et al. (2021) developed a MFC-resistive electrically stimulated denitrification process. Results showed an increase in aromatic amino acids and enhanced electron transfer under 0.2 V microbial weak electricity stimulation, which increased the denitrification rate to 98.1 %. In another study, a MFC was coupled with a MEC, and the MEC was stimulated in situ using ultra-low microbial weak electricity of 0.1 V generated by MFC (Qin et al. 2022). Findings show the formation of aromatic proteins and the increase of tightly bound extracellular polymers involved in electron transfer, and the TN removal efficiency increased from 88.7 % to 91.3 %, thus revealing the activation of autotrophic microorganisms and the inhibition of some heterotrophic microorganisms.



Fig. 2. (a) β -MnO₂ as alternative cathode catalysts in air-cathode microbial fuel cells (MFCs). (b) DEA was used as the 0.5 mg-Pt/cm² catalyst layer on the cathode. DEA polymer solution was composed of a tetrahydrofuran solvent. (c) Three bio-cathodes constructed wetland-MFC system. (d) Conductive NLCE as the anode, obtained from an inutile desktop monitor. (e) GO modified electrodes, and GO was prepared using the modified Hummers method from flake graphite (Sigma-Aldrich). (f) Exogenous denitrifying biofilms were enriched from the anodes of MFCs fed with mineral salt medium containing acetic acid, and *EB-1* was then isolated. (g) Under a 30 s open-circuit/30 s polarization mode. (h) Using pyrite as the anodic filling material and quartz sand as the cathodic filling material. Where, BES: bioelectrochemical systems; DEA: Diethylamine-functionalized polymers; NLCE: nematic liquid crystal electrode; GO: Graphene oxide; PyAno: pyrite as an anodic.

The coupling of photocatalysis with BES enhanced the redox potential of BES and improved the ammonia oxidation performance of the anode chamber. Ultimately, the power yield of BES in carbon-deficient wastewater, as well as the nitrification and denitrification rates were improved (Xu et al., 2015). Visible light-algae-BES phase coupling is possible for the mariculture wastewater with carbon-deficient, low discharge limits, and high salinity (Sun et al., 2020). Here, at the anode, the algae assists the electricity-producing bacteria to generate electricity and improves the pollutant removal. At the cathode, the algae absorb nitrogen and phosphorus from the wastewater firstly and then forms a "bioaerator" that release dioxygen uniformly through photosynthesis under visible light. This synergistic effect of the catalytic cathode, algae, and cathode denitrifying bacteria in SND enhanced denitrification. However, these emerging coupled processes are currently experimental in synthetic wastewater. Their feasibility in real wastewater treatment should be further investigated.

3.2.2. Modification and optimization of electrode materials

Electrode materials play an important role in BES, and largely determine the ability of BES to act as a "highway" of electron transfer. Table 1 presents recent progress on the material selection and modification of BES applied, to improve the performance of simultaneous nitrogen removal and energy recovery from the carbon-deficient wastewater.

3.2.2.1. Non-biological electrodes. It is crucial to select a highly conductive electrode for electron transfer in order to minimize the ohmic voltage loss in the BES. For most metals, the resistivity of electron transfer at 20 °C is about 10^{-7} – $10^{-8} \Omega$ m, while the resistivity of carbon to π electrons is about 3.5 \times 10⁻⁵ Ω m (Serway and Beichner, 1988). Thus, abiotic electrodes such as platinum (Pt) anodes have excellent organic removal properties, while stainless steel and Pt perform better as cathode materials because of their strength, manageability, and better electrokinetic properties, which facilitate biofilm-driven reduction. With Pt catalyst loaded on the cathode, the system voltage was significantly increased from 95 mV to 450 mV and the power density was 117.7 mW/m^2 , which was 16 times higher than that without Pd catalyst in the system (Fang et al., 2011). Although the NO₃ removal rate is increased by 3.5 times, it is costly due to the presence of Pt. Biocathode MFC has the lowest efficiency due to its higher internal resistance value of 533.9 Ω (Raychaudhuri et al., 2022). From the application point of view, precious metals are more expensive than carbon materials. Moreover, precious metals are more susceptible to corrosion and

Table 1

Enhanced denitrification of carbon-deficient wastewater and electricity production by electrode material modified bioelectrochemical systems.

Wastewater type	Removed substrate	C/N	Modified electrode	Electrode material	Treatment efficiency	Power or cell voltage	Coulombic efficiency	Reference
Domestic wastewater	NO_3^-	0	Cathode	Pb	$NO_3-N^-: 2 mg/L$ day^{-1}	117.7 mW/m ²	66 %	(Fang et al., 2011)
Artificial wastewater	NO_3^-	0.18	Anode, cathode	Graphitized carbon nanofibers	NO ₃ ⁻ : 89.3 %	1.26 mW/m^2	NA	(Alharbi, 2013)
Artificial wastewater	NO ₃ ⁻ , NH ₄ ⁺	2.16	Cathode	РЬ	$NO_3^-: 88.93 \text{ g m}^{-3}$ $NCC^a \text{ day}^{-1}$	593 mV	23.54 %	(Al-Mamun and Baawain, 2015)
Constructed wetland wastewater	NH_4^+	4.38	Cathode	Graphite felt ^b	$NH_4^+: 163.55 \pm 11.88 \text{ mg/(m}^2 \cdot \text{d})$	26.16 mW/m^2	NA	(Xu et al., 2018)
Artificial wastewater	NO_3^-	0	Cathode	MWCNT ^d /carbon felt	NO3: 83.58 %	NA	NA	(Safari et al., 2014)
	NO ₃	0	Cathode	MWCNT/carbon cloth	NO ₃ ⁻ : 79.66 %	NA	NA	
	NO ₃	0	Cathode	MWCNT/graphite	NO_{3}^{-} : 63.98 %	NA	NA	
Groundwater	NO ₂	3	Anode	Fe	$NO_{2}^{-}: 63.72 \pm 1.18\%$	NA	NA	(Li et al., 2019)
Supernatant liquid taken from	NO ₃	0	Cathode	HCl pretreatment graphite	NO_3^- : 19.96 mg/ L d ⁻¹	NA	NA	(Chen et al., 2017)
	NO_3^-	0	Cathode	$\rm H_2O_2$ pretreatment graphite	NO ₃ ⁻ : 14.82 mg/ L d ⁻¹	NA	NA	
	NO_3^-	0	Cathode	HNO ₃ pretreatment graphite	NO ₃ ⁻ : 13.93 mg/ L d ⁻¹	NA	NA	
	NO_3^-	0	Cathode	HNO_3 + heat pretreatment graphite	NO ₃ ⁻ : 27.36 mg/ L d ⁻¹	NA	NA	
Artificial wastewater	NO_3^-	2	Anode	CC	NO ₃ ⁻ : 79.1 %	NA	NA	(Zhu et al., 2015)
	NO ₃	2	Anode	FeC	NO ₃ ⁻ : 90.3 %	NA	NA	
Groundwater	NO ₃	1.25	Cathode	Graphene oxide modified	NO ₃ ⁻ : 99.9 %	900 mV	NA	(Yang et al., 2021)
Artificial wastewater	NO ₃	3	Anode	Fe-C	$NO_3^-: 50\%$	NA	NA	(Qian et al., 2018)
Artificial wastewater	NH ₄ ⁺	3.51	Cathode	Carbon brush + proton exchange membrane	$\rm NH_4^+: 51.7 \pm 0.7 \%$	31.91 mW·h	NA	(Huang et al., 2021)
	NH_4^+	3.51	Cathode	Graphite felt + proton exchange membrane	$\rm NH_4^+:68.0\pm1.6\%$	46.11 mW·h	NA	
	NH_4^+	3.51	Cathode	Carbon brush + cation exchange membrane	$\rm NH_4^+: 47.7 \pm 0.1 \%$	21.49 mW·h	NA	
Artificial wastewater	NH_4^+	7.8	Cathode	Nafion binder	NH ₄ ⁺ : 90.7 %	$945 \pm 42 \text{ mW/m}^2$	26 %	(Yan et al., 2012)
	NH_4^+	7.8	Cathode	Diethylamine-functionalized polymer ^c	NH ₄ ⁺ : 96.8 %	$900\pm25\text{mW/m}^2$	25 %	
Landfill leachate	NH4 ⁺	2.73	Anode, cathode	Anode: carbon nanotubes/carbon nanofibers; Cathode: TiO ₂ /carbon nanofibers	NH4 ⁺ : 66.6 % TN: 67.9 %	$216\pm13\text{mW/m}^2$	NA	(Cai et al., 2020)
	NH4 ⁺	2.73	Anode, cathode	Anode: carbon nanotubes/carbon nanofibers; Cathode: carbon nanotubes/carbon nanofibers;	NH ₄ ⁺ : 78.2 % TN: 77.8 %	$301 \pm 13 \text{mW/m}^2$	NA	
Artificial wastewater	NH_4^+	2	Anode	Polypyrrole/microbial cellulose	NH ₄ ⁺ : 97.42 %; TN: 62.47 %	NA	NA	(Hossini et al., 2015)

^a Net cathodic compartment;

^b Multiple bio-cathodes.

^c Pt catalyst binder.

^d MWCNT: multi-wall carbon nanotube.

interference with the denitrification process. Therefore, reducing the internal resistance of bioelectrodes through modification and other methods is necessary.

3.2.2.2. Bioelectrodes. An important factor determining the efficiency of BES is the performance of bioelectrodes, with the interaction between electrodes and microorganisms to catalyze electrochemical reactions (Wang et al., 2021b). These microorganisms are usually attached to the electrode surface and exchange electrons with the solid electrode to facilitate microbial metabolism. Carbon-based materials, such as graphite felt (Gf), carbon felt, and carbon cloth are well suited for biofilm formation due to their stability, high specific surface area, roughness, and electrochemical properties (Zhang et al., 2021b). Nonetheless, the low electrochemical activity of Gf electrodes due to poor kinetics and high internal resistance properties limits their wide application (Safari et al., 2014). Therefore, modification of such electrode materials to improve their electrochemical performance has received much attention.

Several studies have shown that carbon nanomaterials can facilitate electron transfer during the electroreduction and electrooxidation of electroactive substances, such as NADH and hydrogen peroxide (Atta et al., 2019). Carbon nanomaterials are carbon materials with at least one dimension less than 100 nm in the dispersed phase scale. By dispersing carbon nanomaterials on the electrode surface to form a randomly dispersed high surface area array, the surface area of carbon electrodes can be expanded. In addition, their porous structure provides better wetting properties for electrodes. The MFC system modified with carbon nanomaterials achieved more than 95 % NO_3^- removal (Alharbi, 2013). The β -MnO₂ in manganese oxides exhibits better catalytic activity of the process (Huang et al., 2019). Carbon nanotube-loaded β-MnO₂ MFC showed a high power density of 97.8 mW/m² with an internal resistance as low as 165 Ω (Lu et al., 2011). In addition, brittle carbon materials that increase the ohmic loss of the electrode, carbon or graphite electrode materials can be supported by stainless steel mesh, a conductive metal collector (Song et al., 2020). Coating graphite electrodes with electron mediators, polyaniline, and quinone groups can likewise improve their performance (Deng et al., 2017).

However, slow biofilm build-up rates and system instability often limit pollutant removal and power output. Ammonia oxidation pretreatment, sulfuric acid, hydrochloric acid, hydrogen peroxide, or nitric acid oxidation pretreatment of bioelectrodes can accelerate electrode biofilm formation. This is achieved by generating oxygen-containing functional groups, mainly in the form of carboxyl groups, thus facilitating the growth of metabolically active bacteria and enhancing the electron transfer between bacteria and the electrode surface (Bi et al., 2022). Similarly, pretreatments such as ultrasound and autoclave disinfection can also modify the electrode to improve BES electricity production and the removal of contaminants simultaneously (Sivasankar et al., 2019). Chen et al. (2017) found that the cathode surface oxygen content of a BER after coupled heat treatment with HNO3 was 11.54 %, which was 1.98 %, 4.10 % and 7.70 % higher respectively after HNO₃, H₂O₂, and HCl treatment, promoting the biofilm growth and reduction rate of the cathode-driven autotrophic denitrification. The presence of functional groups in anodes, which consists of conductive linear liquid crystal electrodes such as C=N and C=O, is the key factor in the rapid formation of stable biofilms, effectively ameliorating the issues of long BES initiation times and frequent biofilm shedding or erosion (Srinivasan et al., 2019).

Optimizing the surface area of electrodes and the number of cathodes is another option, if the electrodes are optimized from the perspective of convenience to enhance the performance of BES in terms of electricity production and denitrification. The TN removal rate increases proportionally to the electrode surface area (Oksuz and Beyenal, 2021). Xu et al. (2018) found that increasing the number of biocathodes from 1 to 3 resulted in a significant reduction in energy loss on both the anode and cathode (from 97.85 mV to 46.09 mV for the anode and from 221.5 mV to 45.89 mV for the cathode respectively). The maximum power density of the system increased significantly from 12.56 mW/m² to 26.16 mW/m². Thus, the enhanced power production performance contributed to higher nitrification rates (from 98.59 \pm 4.53 mg/(m²·d) to 179.11 \pm 7.65 mg/(m²·d)) and denitrification rates (from 89.64 \pm 4.57 mg/(m²·d) to 163.55 \pm 11.88 mg/(m²·d)). The relationship between the number of biocathodes, power production, and denitrification efficiency in the carbon-deficient wastewater has not been completely understood. Further studies are needed to explore the applicability of multiple biocathodes for various scenarios.

3.2.3. Filling materials

A key obstacle in the practical application of BES is the poor electron transfer between the microorganisms and the anode (Yang et al., 2021). In addition to modifying the electrodes to improve their electrochemical performance, filling inexpensive conductive particles between BES electrodes is an economical and convenient option (Table 2). Activated carbon, metals such as zinc, iron, manganese and graphite are commonly used as conductive particles in three-dimensional electrode systems (Zhang et al., 2021c). These particles can form microelectrodes in an electric field, and their high specific surface area and high electrical conductivity help accelerate mass transfer and enhance electron transfer.

Biochar, which has an excellent biocompatibility, is now widely studied and applied by scholars. Dong et al. (2020) selected three biochar-modified electrodes and found that BES filled with the MgO-modified biochar achieved the highest power density of $2.40-4.45 \text{ W/m}^3$, compared to 1.31 W/m^3 for the BES without biochar filling. The anode chamber and the cathode chamber were filled with granular activated carbon (GAC) and MnO₂/TiO₂/g-C₃N₄@GAC respectively to construct a dual-chamber three-dimensional electrode BES (3D-BES, Zhang and Liu, 2020). Under the electric field, the filled particles were polarized to form a large number of charged microelectrodes, which significantly improved the current efficiency of the BES (Feng et al., 2018).

Power density and coulombic efficiency in bigger scales (L-level) were lower by 2–3 orders of magnitude compared to the mL-level MFCs (Wang et al., 2017). This is because the removal of organic matter by the electron-producing bacteria at the anode alone is inefficient. To extend the range of electroactivity in the anode region, inexpensive natural conductive pyrite (PyAno) can be used as a filling material (Yan et al., 2021). As a conductive mineral, pyrite is capable of long-range bio-current transmission in various environments. Materials such as gravel and sand are also used to fill the biocathodes, enhancing nitrogen removal from groundwater (Cecconet et al., 2019).

3.2.4. Improving the wettability of membrane materials

Exchange membranes are essential components of BES, and the structure and composition of the membrane should accommodate the passage of both cations and anions. To ensure the diffusion of protons from the anode chamber to the cathode chamber. The pH gradient on both sides of the membrane would increase the ohmic voltage loss, which tends to reduce the stability and nitrogen removal of BES (Daud et al., 2018). Therefore, the exchange membrane should have good ionic conductivity, stability, and durability.

Microfiltration membranes in BES outperform ultrafiltration membranes due to their larger pore size that induces less internal resistance (Sun et al., 2009). Nonetheless, when dioxygen penetrates into the anode chamber of an anaerobic chamber, the anode coulombic efficiency and bioelectrocatalytic activity decrease (Pant et al., 2010). Therefore, balancing dioxygen permeation and proton transfer in the BES dual chamber is critical, especially in processes requiring cathodic aeration such as SND. Changing only the pore size of the exchange membrane does not solve this issue. Improving the wetting properties of the exchange membrane improves the proton transfer efficiency and reduces dioxygen permeation (Zhou et al., 2021). For example, expanded polytetrafluoroethylene prepared with ferric hydroxide colloidal solution, $Fe(OH)_3$, acrylic acid, and $C_3H_4O_2$ is hydrophilic, which could be used to separate BES. This membrane improved the overall electrical conductivity and power generation capacity of BES while reducing dioxygen permeability (Yao et al., 2015).

Table 2

Bioelectrochemical systems with filling material for wastewater denitrification and electricity production.

Removed substrate	C/N	Filling material	Treatment efficiency	Power density	Voltage	Coulombic efficiency	Reference
NO_3^-	0	Sand medium	$NO_3^-: 86 \pm 4\%$	NA	NA	NA	(Cecconet et al.,
NO_3^-	0	Gravel medium	$NO_3^-: 95 \pm 2\%$	NA	NA	NA	2019)
$\rm NH_4^+$, $\rm NO_3^{-a}$	5.4	Quartz sand	$\rm NH_4^+$: 20.1 % ± 2.7 %	14.4 mW/m^2	270.2 mV \pm	NA	(Yan et al., 2021)
			TN: 30.7 % \pm 3.4 %		71.3 mV		
$\rm NH_4^+, \rm NO_3^{-a}$	8.5	Pyrite	$\rm NH_4^+: 25.7~\%~\pm~2.1~\%$	27.8 mW/m^2	309.1 mV \pm	NA	
			TN: 30.2 $\%$ \pm 3.4 $\%$		130.0 mV		
$\rm NH_4^+$, $\rm NO_3^{-a}$	3.1	Quartz sand + pyrite	$\rm NH_4^+: 32.5~\%~\pm~2.7~\%$	22.0 mW/m^2	416.0 mV \pm	NA	
			TN: 36.7 $\%$ \pm 3.6 $\%$		65.4 mV		
NH_4^+	50	Biochar	$NH_4^+: 91.7 \pm 4\%$	$2.40 \pm 0.28 \text{W/m}^3$	262 mV	$3.11 \pm 0.19 \%$	(Dong et al., 2020)
			TN: 80.1 ± 2.8 %				
NH_4^+	50	Biochar and zeolite mixture	$\rm NH_4^+:92.7~\pm~3.1~\%$	$3.13 \pm 0.27 \text{ W/m}^3$	332 mV	$3.51 \pm 0.27 \%$	
			TN: 80.5 \pm 2.6 %				
NH_4^+	50	MgO-modified biochar	NH ₄ ⁺ : 93.6 ± 3.2 %	$4.45 \pm 0.21 \text{ W/m}^3$	400 mV	$6.01~\pm~0.25~\%$	
			TN: 84.8 \pm 2 %				
	Removed substrate NO ₃ ⁻ NH ₄ ⁺ , NO ₃ ^{-a} NH ₄ ⁺ , NO ₃ ^{-a} NH ₄ ⁺ , NO ₃ ^{-a} NH ₄ ⁺ NH ₄ ⁺ NH ₄ ⁺	Removed substrate C/N NO ₃ ⁻ 0 NO ₃ ⁻ 0 NH ₄ ⁺ , NO ₃ ^{-a} 5.4 NH ₄ ⁺ , NO ₃ ^{-a} 8.5 NH ₄ ⁺ , NO ₃ ^{-a} 3.1 NH ₄ ⁺ 50 NH ₄ ⁺ 50 NH ₄ ⁺ 50	Removed substrateC/NFilling material substrateNO3 NO3 NO3 MH4 +, NO3^a0Sand medium Gravel medium NH4 +, NO3^aNH4 +, NO3^a8.5PyriteNH4 +, NO3^a3.1Quartz sand + pyriteNH4 +50BiocharNH4 +50Biochar and zeolite mixtureNH4 +50MgO-modified biochar	$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$

^a Multi-species inorganic nitrogen wastewater.

However, these membranes are relatively expensive to prepare and need to be replaced regularly, making them difficult for practical applications. It would be more practical to use membrane-free BES or find an inexpensive alternative such as a ceramic membrane (Guo et al., 2022).

3.2.5. Addition of exogenous substances

Adding exogenous substances is also a feasible strategy to intensify the denitrification of carbon-deficient wastewater, as it can act as an electron donor and enhance electron transfer; while adding hydroxyl-methyl-furfural or NZVI in BES increases dihydrogen production and improves the denitrification efficiency of H₂ production (Malik et al., 2021). The addition of NZVI causes changes in microbial populations, mainly depending on its dosage amount. The addition of montmorillonite-loaded sodium alginate immobilized NZVI in a denitrification zone of the vertical flow CW and thus increased the NO₃⁻ denitrification efficiency, with increased biodiversity and abundance level in the system (Zhao et al., 2018).

Trace amounts of quinolone or other compounds acting as electron shuttle to BES increase biomass and biogenic power production significantly (Shehab et al., 2017). However, dissolved electron shuttles are usually toxic and easily washed out from the effluents. Alternatively, humin is an insoluble electron shuttle working within a broad pH scope, which is physicochemically stable and widely available in the environment. Electrochemical denitrification performance of *Pseudomonas stutzeri JCM20778* was enhanced after the addition of humin to BES (Xiao et al., 2016). Therefore, there is a great potential for future BES applications to improve the electron transfer between electrodes and bacteria for enhanced nitrogen removal. However, the immobilization method and dosage should be optimized to avoid possible reduction of the charge transfer rate of the biocathode.

3.2.6. Role of buffers and their by-products

Many factors affect the performance of BES denitrification, including pH, temperature, electrode spacing, and external resistance, which were covered by a previous review paper (Sun et al., 2020). Therefore, we focus on buffers and their by-products that assist in the regulation of pH control, and on the effects of ionic strength, electrode potential, and substrate concentration. To maintain neutral conditions, an alkaline buffer is usually added to the solution. For that, carbonates are better than phosphate buffers because carbonates act as a source of inorganic carbon and have a high diffusion coefficient in water, allowing rapid transport of protonated alkalinity (HAlk) in biofilms (Marcus et al., 2011). Eqs. (15)-(18) show that the anode solution tends to be more acidic after reaction. The CO₂ produced can be circulated within the cathode and dissolved into water to form H₂CO₃, which then reacts with OH⁻ step by step to eventually form CO_3^{2-} (Eqs. (19)–(20)). Thus, carbonates and bicarbonates can be reused for pH control, and the CO2 produced can increase the conductivity of the solution and enhance electron transfer (Buvik et al., 2021). Since

 CO_2 produced could be utilized by BES in-situ, the emission of the greenhouse gas from the wastewater treatment process is controlled.

$$Alk^{-} + H^{+} \leftrightarrow HAlk$$
 (15)

$$\mathrm{CO}_3^{2-} + \mathrm{H}^+ \! \leftrightarrow \! \mathrm{HCO}_3^- \tag{16}$$

$$HCO_{3}^{-} + H^{+} \leftrightarrow H_{2}CO_{3} \tag{17}$$

$$H_2CO_3 \leftrightarrow CO_2 + H_2O \tag{18}$$

$$H_2CO_3 + OH^- \rightarrow H_2O + HCO_3^-$$
(19)

$$HCO_3^- + OH^- \rightarrow H_2O + CO_3^{2-}$$
⁽²⁰⁾

Low anodic NO_2^- concentrations (below 60 mg/L) could act as a cosubstrate to promote BES electricity production in the absence of organic matter (Wang et al., 2020b). When the NO_2^- concentration is too high, the biotoxicity of NO_2^- inhibits the growth of biofilm and suppresses the production of cytochrome C and extracellular polymeric substances (EPS), which is an important component of biofilm and promotes the adhesion and growth of microbial cells on the electrode surface. In addition, redox molecules in EPS, such as outer membrane cytochromes, contribute to electron transfer. Thus, high NO_2^- concentrations increase the resistance to charge transfer in the anode biofilm, which in turn inhibits the activity of electrogenic bacteria. The presence of ammonium ions in the anode chamber promotes electron transfer from the anode solution, so that the NO_3^- removal rate from 3.07 ± 0.26 g/(m³·d) to 7.89 ± 0.78 g/(m³·d) and current density from 28.2 \pm 19.4 mA/m² to 176.1 \pm 31.7 mA/m², could be much higher compared to that in the NH₄⁺-free system (Kim et al., 2014). Jin et al. (2018) inoculated Geobacter metallireducens in the anodic denitrification region, and the current output of MFC was strongly inhibited at NO_3^- concentrations higher than 56 mg N L⁻¹. Therefore, the NH_4^+ and NO_3^- concentration in carbon-deficient wastewater controls the BES power production.

It is unclear to what extent the energy used for microbial growth and maintenance influences the overpotential at the biocatalytic electrode. Yet, capacities of electroactive microorganisms anodic oxidation and cathodic reduction are closely related to electrode potential. For example, acetate-oxidizing microorganisms showed enhanced biomass activity after 30 days at an anodic potential of -0.2 V vs SHE compared to 0 V or 0.2 V (Aelterman et al., 2008). Altering the electrode potential results in the inability of some species to respire under such redox conditions, while other electroactive species are retained at a competitive advantage. When the applied cathodic potential is lower than the theoretical reduction potential of the target pollutant, the pollutant can be directly reduced. However, too high a potential (-1.8 V) or higher current intensity (600 mA) can

disrupt microbial metabolism and even cause microbial death (Zhu et al., 2021a).

3.2.7. Cycle reversal and/or polarity reversal

Increased microbial activity and promoted nitrogen denitrification could be achieved by applying an electric field or changing the electrical properties of the species (Qian et al., 2018, 2017). Periodic reversal bioelectrocoagulation system (PRBES) differs from BES mainly in that the former use active metals such as iron and inert materials as electrodes, which release cations that form flocs with the activated sludge in the system (Qian et al., 2017). Activated sludge could be further stimulated by electrochemistry to increase the biomass weight and biological activity of the nitrification system. Due to the periodic reversal of the DC power supply, this system can alleviate the dissolution of the anode active metal and reduce the anode passivation, which is one of the periodic reversal advantages. Qian et al. (2018) embedded Fe-C electrodes in PRBES and found that iron ion leaching increased denitrifying bacteria abundance, led to enhanced nitrogen removal.

BES under cyclic polarization such as 30 s open - 30 s polarization, electroactive heterotrophs such as Geobacter sp. can store excess electrons in their redox proteins (E.g. polyhemoglobin c-type cytochromes), then release these electrons as transient currents in addition to steady-state currents when repolarization is activated. Thus, optimized cyclic polarization enhances the charge storage capacity and conductivity of these anodically electroactive biofilms (Wang et al., 2021a). Nonetheless, NO₂⁻ accumulation can limit the overall denitrification process and is a challenge for BES-enhanced denitrification. Furthermore, Liang et al. (2019) created a bidirectional electron transfer cathodic biofilm dominated by Geobacter sp. through anodic polarity reversal, where electrochemically active bacteria such as Geobacter sp. act as an "electron bridge" at the anode, thus providing an additional channel for denitrifying bacteria to obtain electrons from the cathode, with a denitrification rate of 98 %. Overall, cycle inversion or polar inversion is feasible for enhanced denitrification and electricity production in carbon-deficient wastewater, but polar inversion needs to be supplemented with organic matter immediately after operation. Future studies should explore how to avoid or reduce the addition of organic matter to obtain bi-directional electron transfer cathode biofilm as well.

3.2.8. Electron competition

For both anodic and cathodic reactions in BES, electron competition or incomplete denitrification processes significantly reduces the charge transfer efficiency, and the coulombic efficiency decreases correspondingly (Parameswaran et al., 2009). Electron competition mainly occurs during BES-SND, or short-range SND, due to the high concentration of dissolved oxygen and penetration into the cathode. This phenomenon leads to a decrease in the coulombic efficiency and denitrification efficiency of BES.

At the anode, coulombic efficiency reduction could be explained by two mechanisms: (1) Under absolute anaerobic conditions, the methanogenic bacteria compete with the electrogenic bacteria for organic carbon sources and cause a reduction in hydrogen production by MEC. Therefore, dissolved oxygen in the anode chamber (slightly greater than 0.2 mg/L) might be beneficial to reduce the production of CH₄ (a strong greenhouse gas). (2) Cathodic dissolved oxygen infiltration into the anode leads to organic matter oxidation by the aerobic microorganisms at the anode, which weakens the anaerobic environment of electrophilic bacteria. At the cathode, the main electron transfer pathways include: (1) Transfer of electrons to dioxygen and NO_3^- along the external circuit. (2) Transfer of electrons to dioxygen and NO₃⁻ by organic matter. (3) Transfer of electrons to dioxygen by ammonia. Since the redox potential of O_2/H_2O , of +0.82 V, is higher than that of NO_3^-/N_2 , of +0.75 V, dioxygen and NO_3^- would compete for electrons in the complicated processes. In addition, high dissolved oxygen inhibits the activity of denitrifying bacteria and leads to compromised denitrification. As the autotrophic denitrification rate increased, denitrifying bacteria tends to fully utilize the cathode electrons. And the competitiveness of autotrophic denitrification in denitrification gradually increases with the nitrification rate (Ling et al., 2020).

Therefore, dissolved oxygen is a key factor in SND systems. Lacking of dissolved oxygen inhibits nitrification. On the one hand, the lack of dissolved oxygen inhibits nitrification. On the other hand, abundant dissolved oxygen will cross the outer layer of the biofilm to reach the inner layer, disrupting the micro-anoxic environment in the biofilm and thus inhibiting denitrification. Li et al. (2016) found that NOB growth remained limited and NO_2^- accumulated to achieve short-range denitrification when dissolved oxygen was 3.5 mg/L. High dissolved oxygen is favorable for BES power generation but causes an increase in aeration energy consumption. Therefore, the effect of dissolved oxygen concentration on power generation, denitrification efficiency, and operational cost on BES enhanced denitrification should be considered.

3.2.9. Other strategies

Although the redox enzymes of some exoelectric species are located on the biofilm's outer surface, only the bacteria's outer layer is electrochemically active. Some *Geobacter* and *Shewanella* species help microbial delivery to electrodes by producing nanowires or conductive hairs (Aiyer, 2020). In addition, some microorganisms can synthesize redox mediators through primary and secondary metabolites to achieve high-speed electron transfer. For example, phenazines produced by *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* are used for electron transfer between bacteria and anodes (Rhodes et al., 2021). Jin (2018) isolated a strain of *Mycobacterium* sp. *EB-1* and found it could generate electrical energy through direct electron transfer, which exhibited stable denitrification and power generation properties and utilized limited carbon sources more efficiently in the carbon-deficient wastewater. Therefore, microbial interactions can be used to optimize the bacterial-electrode electron transfer and ultimately improve the overall performance of BES.

Thick biofilm deposition impedes electron flow (Mohan et al., 2014). Therefore, controlling biofilm thickness is important to achieve high power output. In addition, heavy fouling on the cathode reduces the BES power generation by up to 85 % (Kook et al., 2016). Biofilm thickness can be controlled by optimizing parameters such as current density. Last but not least, the resultant ohmic voltage loss consists of two types of charge transfer in BES: Ion transfer through the electrolyte and electron transfer through the electrode (Clauwaert et al., 2008). The ohmic voltage loss increases with the reactor size. Stacking multiple suitably sized 3D-BES may be a more feasible strategy for BES scale-up. Liang et al. (2018) realized the amplification application of real municipal wastewater in BES by assembling three 3D-BES modules (1000 L).

4. Challenges and strategies reducing N₂O production in BES

To control N_2O production in BES facilitated processes, researchers have developed strategies such as optimizing conductivity, controlling cathode potential and current, process optimization, and avoiding electron acceptor inhibition of N_2O reductase (Fig. 3).

4.1. Challenges of N_2O reduction based on the principles of BES

Issues of climate change, waste production, and energy shortage are calling for wastewater treatment processes that maximize resource and energy recovery. For that, BES is an emerging technology that has the potential to recover potential energy from wastewater and for future application in wastewater treatment plants. BES application to improve wastewater denitrification performance has been extensively studied recently (Liang et al., 2019; Liu et al., 2020; Zhu et al., 2021b). However, incomplete denitrification in this denitrification process produces intermediate products such as N₂O. A slight increase in N₂O accumulation over a long atmospheric life cycle would have seriously negative environmental impacts (Otte et al., 2019). Furthermore, in BES enhanced denitrification processes, the accumulation of intermediate products decreases the cathode coulombic efficiency. Therefore, an in-depth understanding of the principles of N₂O production in BES is important to control greenhouse gas emissions.

 NO_3^- reductase (Nar), NO_2^- reductase (Nir), nitric oxide reductase (Nor), and N_2O reductase (Nos) are four key enzymes in the process of



Fig. 3. Strategies for BES N₂O emission reduction. N₂O production can be reduced by enhancing solution conductivity, reducing electrode potential, process optimization, avoidance of electron receptor inhibition of N₂O reductase, and optimizing parameters such as temperature and pH.

complete denitrification (Zhang et al., 2021a). These enzymes are controlled by genes narG, nirK, nirS, and nosZ and determine the rate of NO₃⁻ reduction. The reasons for the variation in N2O production potential are manifold and include differences in the main physicochemical conditions, such as temperature, dissolved oxygen, conductivity, pH, cathodic potential, the nature of the electron acceptors, and denitrification composition of the bacterial flora. Influenced by these factors, N₂O reductase is often inhibited in BES, thereby reducing the proportion of electrons allocated to N₂O reductase. When the electron flux to N₂O reduction is lower than that to NO_2^- reduction, it leads to the accumulation of the intermediate N₂O (Pan et al., 2013), and decreases the total rate of biological denitrification. Therefore, improving N2O reductase activity in BES is a challenge that should be overcome in future studies. We present a detailed review of the numerous factors that influence N₂O reductase activity in BES and provide references on how to modulate these factors. Achieving minimum greenhouse gas emissions and power production stability while contributing to the complete conversion of N to nitrogen in carbon-deficient wastewater.

4.2. Strategies to reduce N_2O production in BES

4.2.1. Optimization of electrical conductivity

The BES cathodic reduction reaction is influenced by conductivity, and studies showed that a low conductivity below 1600 μ S·cm⁻¹ limited the denitrification efficiency and power generation capacity of BES, resulting in the incomplete reduction of NO₃⁻ and accumulation of denitrification intermediates such as N₂O (Puig et al., 2012). Carbon-deficient wastewater such as urban sewage plant tailwater is characterized by low conductivity below 1000 μ S·cm⁻¹, which leads to irreversible energy losses (over potential) (Usikalu et al., 2021). The accumulation of N₂O is facilitated by the limitation of electron and proton transport. At high conductivity, electrons generated at the anode are transferred to the oxidized nitrogen compound near the cathode, which establishes the proton motive force for the production of ATP, and generally yields higher power density and current than the low conductivity wastewater.

The most direct and faster way to increase the conductivity of carbon-deficient wastewater is to dose sodium chloride or sodium bicarbonate solution, which acts as electrolytes (Puig et al., 2012). However, this method may cause secondary contamination. Alternatively, studies have shown that a larger electrode size increases the conductivity of BES (Gadegaonkar et al., 2020). Therefore, the applied liquid electrolyte and dosage should be selected rationally according to the actual situation. Considering the environmental impact, other strategies such as passing CO_2 or controlling its cathode potential by the MEC that uses the applied power supply to reduce N₂O production could also be used.

4.2.2. Control of cathode potential and current

An appropriate cathodic potential or current is important in order to achieve BES enhanced denitrification. The levels of NO₃⁻ reduction end-products, such as NO₂, N₂O, and N₂, vary with cathodic electrode potential, and the accumulation of N₂O at the cathode is the leading cause of coulombic efficiency reduction. It was shown that NO₃⁻ removal increased from 26.8 % to 75.6 % accompanied by higher coulombic efficiency of 72 % when the applied cathode potential was continuously reduced from +250 mV to -500 mV. Low cathode potential significantly reduced the proportion of electrons transferred and released in the form of N₂O under certain current conditions. However, Xiao et al. (2013) found that low potentials may alter the metabolic pathway of glucose to organic acids. Applying a cathodic potential of -0.2 V enhanced the activity of NO reductase and N₂O reductase in the biofilm. When -0.4 V cathodic potential was applied, the lower N_2O concentration (0–10 µm) in the biofilm could be caused by the decrease in electron supply. Therefore, both too low and too high cathodic potentials can negatively affect the complete denitrification of the BES cathode, and the above study tabulated that a cathodic potential around - 400 mV is more appropriate.

The structure and gene expression of the active biofilm community may be significantly changed at different current densities. Virdis et al. (2009) found that at a current of 15 mA, the rate of NO₃⁻ reduction was comparable to the rate of N₂O accumulation. When decreasing to a current of 5 mA, the rate of NO₃⁻ reduction was higher than the rate of N₂O accumulation. This suggests that N₂O is reduced simultaneously with NO₃⁻ reduction, confirming the reduced inhibition of *nosZ* at low currents.

4.2.3. Process optimization

The treatment of nitrogenous wastewater in BES is often inhibited by anode passivation and low activity of functional denitrification genes enzymes, resulting in N₂O accumulation. Using ZVI as an electron donor can drive autotrophic denitrification, and as the active center of oxidase, iron is an important element of the electron transport chain. Iron ions contribute to the enhancement of biomass and denitrifying bacteria, and increased abundances of functional marker genes such as Nirs and Nosz leads to less accumulation of N₂O (Qian et al., 2018). In addition, coupled electric field based on iron ions could further enhance the nitrogen transfer rate and the activities of four enzymes, i.e. Nar, Nir, Nor, and Nos, thereby enhancing the denitrification process. Qian et al. (2018) found that the periodic reversal bioelectric coalescence system constructed by iron-carbon electrodes reduced N₂O by 65.48 % compared to the conventional SBR operating under a low temperature of 10 °C. However, enzyme activity is strongly influenced by temperature factors, and it is worth further exploring on N₂O reduction mechanisms under low temperature conditions.

4.2.4. Avoidance of electron receptor inhibition of N₂O reductase

According to chemical kinetics, NO₂⁻ forms free NO₂⁻ acid (FNA) spontaneously according to pH of the aqueous medium (Al-Mamun and Baawain, 2015). N₂O reductase was inhibited at an FNA concentration of 0.0014 mg HNO₂⁻ L⁻¹ (Al-Mamun and Baawain, 2015). Since the NO₃⁻ reduction potential E0' of +0.433 V is higher than that of NO₂⁻ as +0.350 V, the cathodic denitrification of NO₃⁻ under autotrophic conditions performs better. The energy available for growth in the cathode chamber using NO₃⁻ as electron acceptor was 11 % higher than NO₂⁻ according to thermodynamic calculation, which increases the maximum coulombic efficiency while contributing to the reduction of N₂O accumulation.

The influent load of NO₃⁻ affects denitrifying microbial activity. Al-Mamun and Baawain (2015) found that when the influent load exceeded 0.1 kg NO₃⁻ m⁻³ NCC d⁻¹, the pH of the cathode solution decreased with increasing cathode NO₃⁻ loading rate, and the formation of FNA increased exponentially, thus inhibiting the complete denitrification process of microorganisms on the cathode surface. In summary, the activity of Nos is not only related to the accumulated FNA concentration but also to the pH of the medium.

4.2.5. Other strategies

In BES, pH affects not only the activity of denitrification-related enzymes but also the species of nitrogen in water. Under low pH conditions, N₂O reductase is inhibited by generating free nitrite, leading to N₂O accumulation during denitrification (Wang et al., 2018b). In an open circuit, N₂O concentration in the biofilm is mainly influenced by pH, with higher activity of N₂O reductase than NO reductase in the pH range of 6.8–7.5 or higher than 8.0. In the pH range of 7.5–8.0, or less than 6.8, the NO reductase activity is higher than the N₂O reductase (Xiao et al., 2013).

Temperature affects N₂O production mainly through chemical equilibrium, microbial activity, and enzymatic activity (Reino et al., 2017). Temperature changes lead to an imbalance in the oxidation reaction of $\rm NH_4^+$ and $\rm NO_2^-$. In addition, temperature affects the growth rate of AOB and NOB in BES. The optimal temperature for NOB survival is 25–30 °C, which is sensitive to high temperatures (Bo et al., 2007). In contrast, AOB can survive at a relatively high temperature (45 °C). Therefore, the growth rate of the AOB is faster than the NOB at high temperatures, which may lead to the accumulation of $\rm NO_2^-$, while the inhibitory effect of 0.0007 mg/L of FNA leads to the accumulation of N₂O (Zhou et al., 2008). Therefore, the temperature should be kept in the range of 20–25 °C to achieve minimum greenhouse gas and stability of electricity production.

Too low or too high dissolved oxygen will lead to the accumulation of N₂O. In enhanced denitrification of carbon-deficient wastewater treated by BES, 25–39 % of the TN is transformed to N₂O due to low dissolved oxygen concentration in the nitrification phase, relatively deficient carbon source in the denitrification phase, and high NO₂⁻ accumulation (Virdis et al., 2011). In recent years, AOB has been considered to be the main cause of N₂O production (Blum et al., 2018). However, under hyperoxic

conditions, the N₂O reductase is inhibited, leading to the accumulation of the intermediate denitrifying compound N₂O (Al-Mamun and Baawain, 2015). In most cases, reactors with intermittent aeration mode would emit less N_2O .

In addition to biotic pathways, abiotic pathways are also present in BES in some cases. For example, chemical reactions between redox-active metals (Fe and Mn), organic matter (humic and xanthic acids), and the nitrogen cycle may produce N_2O (Zhu-Barker et al., 2015). For example, NH₂OH can be oxidized by Fe(III) or Mn(IV) to further generate N_2O (Chen et al., 2020). Although abiotic pathways mainly involve chemical reactions, they may be enhanced in wastewater containing heavy metals (Chen et al., 2020), such as secondary effluents of waste leachate, domestic sewage, and other carbon-deficient wastewater.

5. Conclusion and future prospects

Principles, development, and low carbon emission strategies of the BESbased enhanced autotrophic denitrification technologies for carbondeficient wastewater treatment are critically reviewed. The main conclusions are as follows.

- (1) Most studies focus mainly on the enhanced autotrophic denitrification of BES with monomorphic nitrogen water quality and mostly using artificial water, but multi-species inorganic nitrogen often co-exist in the actual carbon-deficient wastewater. BES-based autotrophic denitrification coupled with other denitrification pathways is being studied toward the simultaneous removal of multi-species inorganic nitrogen in real wastewater.
- (2) Here are several strategies to enhance nitrogen removal and electricity production in BES. The first strategy is to couple with emerged treatment methods to enhance the autotrophic removal of nitrogen. There are also strategies such as modifying the electrode materials, filling materials, modified membrane materials, cycle inversion or polarization inversion, and avoidance of electron competition to achieve a controllable design with a high electron transfer rate.
- (3) Influenced by environmental factors, N_2O reductase is often inhibited in BES, resulting in a decrease in the total rate of biological denitrification. Therefore, improving N_2O reductase activity in BES is a challenge that should be overcome in future studies. The literature has reported that N_2O emissions in BES may be reduced by BES coupling strategies, optimization of conductivity, control of cathode potential and current, avoidance of inhibition of N_2O reductase by electron acceptors, and parameter optimization.

Our proposals for future researches and considerations are as follows:

- (1) Multi-species inorganic nitrogen often co-exist in the actual carbondeficient wastewater. For the practical application of BES, future research should focus on understanding the competing mechanisms of nitrogen removal from different species in BES, coupling of new biological denitrification technologies and BES, directionally coupling denitrification pathways according to the actual nitrogen pollution species in wastewater, achieving optimal distribution of nitrogen substrate and electron supply between different denitrification paths, holding a great promise to achieve high-efficient, stable and cost-effective treatment of various nitrogen co-existent contaminants.
- (2) Due to the low energy output and high internal resistance of the device and electrodes, the rate and degree of denitrification are affected by electron competition in non-denitrification pathways. Therefore, future technological breakthroughs and scaled-up applications of BES require the cooperation of traditional environmental experts, biological experts, and energy technicians. The effects of interactions such as selection and modification of electrode materials, filling materials, membrane materials, the addition of exogenous substances, polarization reversal, and proper optimization of parameters such as pH, temperature, and electrode potential on enhanced nitrogen removal should be

appropriately evaluated in laboratory-scale studies to answer these questions. Large-scale studies are urgently needed to assess field-scale issues such as lifetime and management. This will provide guidance for engineering applications.

- (3) Screening microorganism strains and inoculating it in BES has superiority in simultaneous denitrification and electricity production. This helps produce less sludge volume and reduces subsequent power consumption for residual sludge treatment, which is in line with the carbon neutrality context.
- (4) BES is a good choice for future scale-up applications of MFC coupled with MEC for treating carbon-deficient wastewater. However, two key principles need to be noted, which are priority regulation and end control. Firstly, a directional coupling weak current regulation pathway is designed, and the MEC denitrification microbial activity is stimulated weakly by MFC to achieve the optimal allocation of nitrogen substrates and electron supply among different denitrification pathways. Then, the MFC is directed to produce CO₂ through the MEC as an inorganic carbon source by controlling the dissolved oxygen concentration and increasing the solution conductivity. The excess microbial weak power generated during this process is stored in an energy storage battery, which is used for aeration and reduces carbon emissions from daily electricity consumption. The pollutants are turned into "green power". Of course, this requires the efforts of energy technicians to improve the efficiency of battery energy storage continuously.
- (5) N₂O, a greenhouse gas with high warming potential, is not aspired to be produced at BES and its production can be reduced through proper process design optimization and operation. Although initial strategies have been developed, they need to be validated through full-scale applications to achieve scalability and commercialization of sustainable BES, which will help the realization of carbon neutrality and finally bring about significant cost benefits and eco-friendly opportunities in the 21st century.

CRediT authorship contribution statement

- Hongbo Liu: Conceptualization, funding acquisition, project administration, supervision, original draft
- Song Qin: Methodology, data curation, original draft
- Anzhe Li: Methodology, data curation
- Jian Wen: Methodology, data curation
- Eric Lichtfouse: Review & editing
- Heping Zhao: Review & editing
- Xianzhong Zhang: data curation

Data availability

Data will be made available on request.

Declaration of competing interest

The authors declare that they have no known competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this paper.

Acknowledgments

We gratefully acknowledged the co-funding of this work by the National Natural Science Foundation of China (No. 52070130) and the Shuguang Project of Shanghai (Education and Scientific Research Project of Shanghai, 18SG45).

References

Aelterman, P., Freguia, S., Keller, J., Verstraete, W., Rabaey, K., 2008. The anode potential regulates bacterial activity in microbial fuel cells. Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 78, 409–418. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00253-007-1327-8.

- Ahmed, Z., Kim, S.-M., Kim, I.S., Bum, M.-S., Chae, K.-J., Joo, J.-H., Ok, Y.S., Oh, S.-E., 2012. Nitrification and denitrification using biofilters packed with sulfur and limestone at a pilot-scale municipal wastewater treatment plant. Environ. Technol. 33, 1271–1278. https://doi.org/10.1080/09593330.2011.619581.
- Aiyer, K.S., 2020. How does electron transfer occur in microbial fuel cells? World J. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 36, 19. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11274-020-2801-z.
- Alharbi, N.S., 2013. A microbial fuel cell modified with carbon nanomaterials for organic removal and denitrification. Math. Probl. Eng. 2013, 410916. https://doi.org/10.1155/ 2013/410916.
- Al-Mamun, A., Baawain, M.S., 2015. Accumulation of intermediate denitrifying compounds inhibiting biological denitrification on cathode in microbial fuel cell. J. Environ. Health Sci. Eng. 13, 81. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40201-015-0236-5.
- Atta, A.M., Abdullah, M.M.S., Al-Lohedan, H.A., Mohamed, N.H., 2019. Novel superhydrophobic sand and polyurethane sponge coated with Silica/Modified asphaltene nanoparticles for rapid oil spill cleanup. Nanomaterials 9, 187. https://doi.org/10.3390/ nano9020187.
- Bavasso, I., Montanaro, D., Petrucci, E., Di Palma, L., 2018. Shortcut biological nitrogen removal (SBNR) in an MFC anode chamber under microaerobic conditions: the effect of C/N ratio and kinetic study. Sustainability 10, 1062. https://doi.org/10.3390/ su10041062.
- Bi, K., Wang, D., Dai, R., Liu, L., Wang, Y., Lu, Y., Liao, Y., Ding, L., Zhuang, H., Nian, Q., 2022. Scalable nanomanufacturing of holey graphene via chemical etching: an investigation into process mechanisms. Nanoscale 14, 4762–4769. https://doi.org/10.1039/ d1nr08437b.
- Blum, J.-M., Jensen, M.M., Smets, B.F., 2018. Nitrous oxide production in intermittently aerated partial nitritation-Anammox reactor: oxic N2O production dominates and relates with ammonia removal rate. Chem. Eng. J. 335, 458–466. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. cej.2017.10.146.
- Bo, Y., Zhi-heng, Y., Wen-rong, H., Zhi-qin, G., 2007. Treatment of wastewater containing ammonia nitrogen by ammonia-oxidizing bacterium. J. Wuhan Univ. Technol. 29, 63–66.
- Buvik, V., Bernhardsen, I.M., Figueiredo, R., Vevelstad, S.J., Goetheer, E., van Os, P., Knuutila, H.K., 2021. Measurement and prediction of oxygen solubility in post-combustion CO2 capture solvents. Int. J. Greenhouse Gas Control 104, 103205. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.ijggc.2020.103205.
- Cai, T., Meng, L., Chen, G., Xi, Y., Jiang, N., Song, J., Zheng, S., Liu, Y., Zhen, G., Huang, M., 2020a. Application of advanced anodes in microbial fuel cells for power generation: a review. Chemosphere 248, 125985. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere. 2020.125985.
- Call, D., Logan, B.E., 2008. Hydrogen production in a single chamber microbial electrolysis cell lacking a membrane. Environ. Sci. Technol. 42, 3401–3406. https://doi.org/10. 1021/es8001822.
- Cao, S., Du, R., Peng, Y., Li, B., Wang, S., 2019. Novel two stage partial denitrification (PD)-Anammox process for tertiary nitrogen removal from low carbon/nitrogen (C/N) municipal sewage. Chem. Eng. J. 362, 107–115. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cej.2018.12.160.
- Cecconet, D., Bolognesi, S., Callegari, A., Capodaglio, A.G., 2019. Simulation tests of in situ groundwater denitrification with aquifer-buried biocathodes. Heliyon 5, e02117. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.heliyon.2019.e02117.
- Cecconet, D., Zou, S., Capodaglio, A.G., He, Z., 2018. Evaluation of energy consumption of treating nitrate-contaminated groundwater by bioelectrochemical systems. Sci. Total Environ. 636, 881–890. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.04.336.
- Chang, H.Q., Wang, H., 2015. Study on the technology and effect of advanced treatment of urban tail water. J. Ecol. Environ. 24, 457–462. https://doi.org/10.16258/j.cnki.1674-5906.2015.03.013.
- Chen, H., Zeng, L., Wang, D., Zhou, Y., Yang, X., 2020. Recent advances in nitrous oxide production and mitigation in wastewater treatment. Water Res. 184. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.watres.2020.116168.
- Chen, W., Wu, D., Wan, H., Tang, R., Li, C., Wang, G., Feng, C., 2017. Carbon-based cathode as an electron donor driving direct bioelectrochemical denitrification in biofilm-electrode reactors: role of oxygen functional groups. Carbon 118, 310–318. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.carbon.2017.03.062.
- Chen, X., Zhang, Q., Zhu, Y., Zhao, T., 2022. Response of rotating biological contactor started up by heterotrophic nitrification-aerobic denitrification bacteria to various C/N ratios. Chemosphere 291, 133048. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2021.133048.
- Chen, Y., Yuan, Z., Ma, Y., An, F., Liu, A., Liu, H., Zhao, Z., Ma, J., 2021. Simultaneous carbon and nitrogen removal by anaerobic ammonium oxidation and denitrification under different operating strategies. Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 28, 65462–65473. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s11356-021-15531-9.
- Chu, Y., Liu, W., Tan, Q., Yang, L., Chen, J., Ma, L., Zhang, Y., Wu, Z., He, F., 2022. Verticalflow constructed wetland based on pyrite intensification: mixotrophic denitrification performance and mechanism. Bioresour. Technol. 347, 126710. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. biortech.2022.126710.
- Clauwaert, P., Aelterman, P., Pham, T.H., De Schamphelaire, L., Carballa, M., Rabaey, K., Verstraete, W., 2008. Minimizing losses in bio-electrochemical systems: the road to applications. Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 79, 901–913. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00253-008-1522-2.
- Clauwaert, P., Rabaey, K., Aelterman, P., De Schamphelaire, L., Ham, T.H., Boeckx, P., Boon, N., Verstraete, W., 2007. Biological denitrification in microbial fuel cells. Environ. Sci. Technol. 41, 3354–3360. https://doi.org/10.1021/es062580r.
- Daud, S.M., Daud, W.R.W., Kim, B.H., Somalu, M.R., Abu Bakar, M.H., Muchtar, A., Jahim, J.M., Lim, S.S., Chang, I.S., 2018. Comparison of performance and ionic concentration gradient of two-chamber microbial fuel cell using ceramic membrane (CM) and cation exchange membrane (CEM) as separators. Electrochim. Acta 259, 365–376. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.electacta.2017.10.118.
- Deng, H., Li, Q., Liu, J., Wang, F., 2017. Active sites for oxygen reduction reaction on nitrogen-doped carbon nanotubes derived from polyaniline. Carbon 112, 219–229. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.carbon.2016.11.014.

- Deng, L., Ngo, H.-H., Guo, W., Wang, J., Zhang, H., 2018. Evaluation of a new sponge addition-microbial fuel cell system for removing nutrient from low C/N ratio wastewater. Chem. Eng. J. 338, 166–175. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cej.2018.01.028.
- Di Capua, F., Pirozzi, F., Lens, P.N.L., Esposito, G., 2019. Electron donors for autotrophic denitrification. Chem. Eng. J. 362, 922–937. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cej.2019.01.069.
- Dong, J., Wu, Y., Wang, C., Lu, H., Li, Y., 2020. Three-dimensional electrodes enhance electricity generation and nitrogen removal of microbial fuel cells. Bioprocess Biosyst. Eng. 43, 2165–2174. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00449-020-02402-9.
- Fang, C., Min, B., Angelidaki, I., 2011. Nitrate as an oxidant in the cathode chamber of a microbial fuel cell for both power generation and nutrient removal purposes. Appl. Biochem. Biotechnol. 164, 464–474. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12010-010-9148-0.
- Feng, L., Li, X., Gan, L., Xu, J., 2018. Synergistic effects of electricity and biofilm on rhodamine B (RhB) degradation in three-dimensional biofilm electrode reactors (3D-BERs). Electrochim. Acta 290, 165–175. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.electacta.2018.09.068.
- Gadegaonkar, S.S., Philippon, T., Roginska, J.M., Mander, U., Maddison, M., Etienne, M., Barriere, F., Kasak, K., Lust, R., Espenberg, M., 2020. Effect of cathode material and its size on the abundance of nitrogen removal functional genes in microcosms of integrated bioelectrochemicalwetland systems. Soil Syst. 4, 47. https://doi.org/10.3390/soilsystems4030047.
- Ge, X., Cao, X., Song, X., Wang, Y., Si, Z., Zhao, Y., Wang, W., Tesfahunegn, A.A., 2020. Bioenergy generation and simultaneous nitrate and phosphorus removal in a pyritebased constructed wetland-microbial fuel cell. Bioresour. Technol. 296, 122350. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2019.122350.
- Ghimire, U., Sarpong, G., Gude, V.G., 2021. Transitioning wastewater treatment plants toward circular economy and energy sustainability. ACS Omega 6, 11794–11803. https://doi.org/10.1021/acsomega.0c05827.
- Guo, X., Jiang, D., Liu, L., Yu, T., Li, Y., Gao, C., 2022. Low temperature regenerated copolymerization doped environmentally available marine biowastes based ceramic membrane as efficient separator for bioelectrochemical systems (BESs). J. Power Sources 544, 231878. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpowsour.2022.231878.
- Hossini, H., Rezaee, A., Ayati, B., Mahvi, A.H., 2015. Simultaneous nitrification and denitrification using a polypyrrole/microbial cellulose electrode in a membraneless bioelectrochemical system. RSC Adv. 5, 72699–72708. https://doi.org/10.1039/c5ra09771a.
- Hu, W., Tian, J., Li, X., Chen, L., 2020. Wastewater treatment system optimization with an industrial symbiosis model: a case study of a chinese eco-industrial park. J. Ind. Ecol. 24, 1338–1351. https://doi.org/10.1111/jiec.13020.
- Huang, J., Feng, H., Jia, Y., Shen, D., Xu, Y., 2019. Sewage sludge-derived carbon-doped manganese as efficient cathode catalysts in microbial fuel cells. Water Sci. Technol. 80, 1399–1406. https://doi.org/10.2166/wst.2019.344.
- Huang, S., Zhang, J., Pi, J., Gong, L., Zhu, G., 2021. Long-term electricity generation and denitrification performance of MFCs with different exchange membranes and electrode materials. Bioelectrochemistry 140, 107748. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bioelechem.2021.107748.
- Jiaqi, S., Lifen, L., Fenglin, Y., 2020a. Successful bio-electrochemical treatment of nitrogenous mariculture wastewater by enhancing nitrogen removal via synergy of algae and cathodic photo-electro-catalysis. Sci. Total Environ. 743, 140738. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. scitotenv.2020.140738.
- Jin, X., 2017. Research on the sewage treatment in high altitude region based on Lhasa Sewage Treatment Plant. 1st International Global on Renewable Energy and Development (igred 2017). 100, p. 012069. https://doi.org/10.1088/1755-1315/100/1/012069.
- Jin, X., Guo, F., Liu, Z., Liu, Y., Liu, H., 2018. Enhancing the electricity generation and nitrate removal of microbial fuel cells with a novel denitrifying exoelectrogenic strain EB-1. Front. Microbiol. 9, 2633. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2018.02633.
- Kato, S., Hashimoto, K., Watanabe, K., 2012. Microbial interspecies electron transfer via electric currents through conductive minerals. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 109, 10042–10046. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1117592109.
- Katuri, K.P., Ali, M., Saikaly, P.E., 2019. The role of microbial electrolysis cell in urban wastewater treatment: integration options, challenges, and prospects. Curr. Opin. Biotechnol. 57, 101–110. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.copbio.2019.03.007.
- Kim, J., Kim, B., Kim, H., Yun, Z., 2014. Effects of ammonium ions from the anolyte within bio-cathode microbial fuel cells on nitrate reduction and current density. Int. Biodeterior. Biodegradation 95, 122–126. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ibiod.2014.04.015.
- Koffi, N.J., Okabe, S., 2021. Bioelectrochemical anoxic ammonium nitrogen removal by an MFC driven single chamber microbial electrolysis cell. Chemosphere 274, 129715. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2021.129715.
- Kook, L., Rozsenberszki, T., Nemestothy, N., Belafi-Bako, K., Bakonyi, P., 2016. Bioelectrochemical treatment of municipal waste liquor in microbial fuel cells for energy valorization. J. Clean. Prod. 112, 4406–4412. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2015.06.116.
- Lai, C., Guo, Y., Cai, Q., Yang, P., 2020. Enhanced nitrogen removal by simultaneous nitrification-denitrification and further denitrification (SND-DN) in a moving bed and constructed wetland (MBCW) integrated bioreactor. Chemosphere 261, 127744. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2020.127744.
- Li, Y., Williams, I., Xu, Z., Li, Baikun, Li, Baitao, 2016. Energy-positive nitrogen removal using the integrated short-cut nitrification and autotrophic denitrification microbial fuel cells (MFCs). Appl. Energy 163, 352–360. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2015.11.021.
- Li, Z., Zhang, Q., Jiang, Q., Zhan, G., Li, D., 2019. The enhancement of iron fuel cell on biocathode denitrification and its mechanism as well as the microbial community analysis of bio-cathode. Bioresour. Technol. 274, 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2018.11.070.
- Liang, D., He, W., Li, C., Yu, Y., Zhang, Z., Ren, N., Feng, Y., 2019. Bidirectional electron transfer biofilm assisted complete bioelectrochemical denitrification process. Chem. Eng. J. 375, 121960. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cej.2019.121960.
- Liang, P., Duan, R., Jiang, Y., Zhang, X., Qiu, Y., Huang, X., 2018. One-year operation of 1000-L modularized microbial fuel cell for municipal wastewater treatment. Water Res. 141, 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2018.04.066.
- Liang, Y., Li, D., Zhang, X., Zeng, H., Yang, Y., Zhang, J., 2015. Nitrate removal by organotrophic anaerobic ammonium oxidizing bacteria with C2/C3 fatty acid in upflow anaerobic sludge blanket reactors. Bioresour. Technol. 193, 408–414. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.biortech.2015.06.133.

- Ling, F., Lu, Y., Wang, C., Yuan, Z., Yu, R., Zhu, G., 2020. Electron transfer pathways and kinetic analysis of cathodic simultaneous nitrification and denitrification process in microbial fuel cell system. Environ. Res. 186, 109505. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2020.109505.
- Liu, H., Ouyang, F., Chen, Zihua, Chen, Zhongbing, Lichtfouse, E., 2021. Weak electricity stimulates biological nitrate removal of wastewater: hypothesis and first evidences. Sci. Total Environ. 757, 143764. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv. 2020.143764.
- Liu, X., Liu, Y., Guo, X., Lu, S., Wang, Y., Zhang, J., Guo, W., Xi, B., 2020. High degree of contaminant removal and evolution of microbial community in di fferent electrolysisintegrated constructed wetland systems. Chem. Eng. J. 388, 124391. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.cej.2020.124391.
- Lu, M., Kharkwal, S., Ng, H.Y., Li, S.F.Y., 2011. Carbon nanotube supported MnO2 catalysts for oxygen reduction reaction and their applications in microbial fuel cells. Biosens. Bioelectron. 26, 4728–4732. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bios.2011.05.036.
- Malik, S.N., Rena, Kumar, S., 2021. Enhancement effect of zero-valent iron nanoparticle and iron oxide nanoparticles on dark fermentative hydrogen production from molasses-based distillery wastewater. Int. J. Hydrog. Energy 46, 29812–29821. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.ijhydene.2021.06.125.
- Marcus, A.K., Torres, C.I., Rittmann, B.E., 2011. Analysis of a microbial electrochemical cell using the proton condition in biofilm (PCBIOFILM) model. Bioresour. Technol. 102, 253–262. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2010.03.100.
- Mier, A.A., Olvera-Vargas, H., Mejia-Lopez, M., Longoria, A., Verea, L., Sebastian, P.J., Arias, D.M., 2021. A review of recent advances in electrode materials for emerging bioelectrochemical systems: from biofilm-bearing anodes to specialized cathodes. Chemosphere 283, 131138. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2021.131138.
- Mohan, S.V., Velvizhi, G., Modestra, J.A., Srikanth, S., 2014. Microbial fuel cell: critical factors regulating bio-catalyzed electrochemical process and recent advancements. Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev. 40, 779–797. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2014.07.109.
- Nguyen, H.D., Babel, S., 2022. Insights on microbial fuel cells for sustainable biological nitrogen removal from wastewater: a review. Environ. Res. 204, 112095. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.envres.2021.112095.
- Oksuz, S.T., Beyenal, H., 2021. Enhanced bioelectrochemical nitrogen removal in flow through electrodes. Sustainable Energy Technol. Assess. 47, 101507. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.seta.2021.101507.
- Otte, J.M., Blackwell, N., Ruser, R., Kappler, A., Kleindienst, S., Schmidt, C., 2019. N2O formation by nitrite-induced (chemo)denitrification in coastal marine sediment. Sci. Rep. 9, 10691. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-47172-x.
- Pan, Y., Ni, B.-J., Bond, P.L., Ye, L., Yuan, Z., 2013. Electron competition among nitrogen oxides reduction during methanol-utilizing denitrification in wastewater treatment. Water Res. 47, 3273–3281. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2013.02.054.
- Pant, D., Van Bogaert, G., De Smet, M., Diels, L., Vanbroekhoven, K., 2010. Use of novel permeable membrane and air cathodes in acetate microbial fuel cells. Electrochim. Acta 55, 7710–7716. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.electacta.2009.11.086.
- Parameswaran, P., Torres, C.I., Lee, H.-S., Krajmalnik-Brown, R., Rittmann, B.E., 2009. Syntrophic interactions among anode respiring bacteria (ARB) and non-ARB in a biofilm anode: electron balances. Biotechnol. Bioeng. 103, 513–523. https://doi.org/10.1002/ bit.22267.
- Porse, E., Mika, K.B., Escriva-Bou, A., Fournier, E.D., Sanders, K.T., Spang, E., Stokes-Draut, J., Federico, F., Gold, M., Pincetl, S., 2020. Energy use for urban water management by utilities and households in Los Angeles. Environ. Res. Commun. 2, 015003. https://doi.org/ 10.1088/2515-7620/ab5e20.
- Puig, S., Coma, M., Desloover, J., Boon, N., Colprim, J., Balaguer, M.D., 2012. Autotrophic denitrification in microbial fuel cells treating low ionic strength waters. Environ. Sci. Technol. 46, 2309–2315. https://doi.org/10.1021/es2030609.
- Puig, S., Serra, M., Vilar-Sanz, A., Cabre, M., Baneras, L., Colprim, J., Dolors Balaguer, M., 2011. Autotrophic nitrite removal in the cathode of microbial fuel cells. Bioresour. Technol. 102, 4462–4467. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2010.12.100.
- Qian, G., Hu, X., Li, L., Ye, L., Lv, W., 2017. Effect of iron ions and electric field on nitrification process in the periodic reversal bio-electrocoagulation system. Bioresour. Technol. 244, 382–390. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2017.07.155.
- Qian, G., Ye, L., Li, L., Hu, X., Jiang, B., Zhao, X., 2018. Influence of electric field and iron on the denitrification process from nitrogen-rich wastewater in a periodic reversal bioelectrocoagulation system. Bioresour. Technol. 258, 177–186. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.biortech.2018.02.112.
- Qin, S., Liu, H.B., Meng, Q.C., Zhou, Y.H., Xu, S.Y., Lichtfouse, E., 2022. Enhanced nutrient removal from mixed black water by a microbial ultra-low weak electrical stimulated anaerobic-two stage anoxic/ aerobic process. Chem. Eng. J. 434, 134615–134625. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cej.2022.134615.
- Qu, B., Fan, B., Zhu, S., Zheng, Y., 2014. Anaerobic ammonium oxidation with an anode as the electron acceptor. Environ. Microbiol. Rep. 6, 100–105. https://doi.org/10.1111/1758-2229.12113.
- Rabaey, K., Van de Sompel, K., Maignien, L., Boon, N., Aelterman, P., Clauwaert, P., De Schamphelaire, L., Pham, H.T., Vermeulen, J., Verhaege, M., Lens, P., Verstraete, W., 2006. Microbial fuel cells for sulfide removal. Environ. Sci. Technol. 40, 5218–5224. https://doi.org/10.1021/es060382u.
- Raychaudhuri, A., Sahoo, R.N., Behera, M., 2022. Sequential anaerobic-aerobic treatment of rice mill wastewater and simultaneous power generation in microbial fuel cell. Environ. Technol. https://doi.org/10.1080/09593330.2022.2053753.
- Reino, C., van Loosdrecht, M.C.M., Carrera, J., Perez, J., 2017. Effect of temperature on N2O emissions from a highly enriched nitrifying granular sludge performing partial nitritation of a low-strength wastewater. Chemosphere 185, 336–343. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. chemosphere.2017.07.017.
- Rhodes, Z., Simoska, O., Dantanarayana, A., Stevenson, K.J., Minteer, S.D., 2021. Using structure-function relationships to understand the mechanism of phenazine-mediated extracellular electron transfer in Escherichia coli. Iscience 24, 103033. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.isci.2021.103033.

- Safari, M., Rezaee, A., Ayati, B., Jonidi-Jafari, A., 2014. Bio-electrochemical reduction of nitrate utilizing MWCNT supported on carbon base electrodes: a comparison study. J. Taiwan Inst. Chem. Eng. 45, 2212–2216. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtice.2014.05.006.
- Selvasembian, R., Mal, J., Rani, R., Sinha, R., Agrahari, R., Joshua, I., Santhiagu, A., Pradhan, N., 2022. Recent progress in microbial fuel cells for industrial effluent treatment and energy generation: fundamentals to scale-up application and challenges. Bioresour. Technol. 346. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2021.126462 126462-126462.
- Serway, R.A., Beichner, R.J., 1988. Physics for scientists and engineers with modern physics. Phys. Teach. 26, 254–255. https://doi.org/10.1119/1.2342517.
- Shehab, N.A., Ortiz-Medina, J.F., Katuri, K.P., Hari, A.R., Amy, G., Logan, B.E., Saikaly, P.E., 2017. Enrichment of extremophilic exoelectrogens in microbial electrolysis cells using Red Sea brine pools as inocula. Bioresour. Technol. 239, 82–86. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.biortech.2017.04.122.
- Singh, S., Anil, A.G., Kumar, V., Kapoor, D., Subramanian, S., Singh, J., Ramamurthy, P.C., 2022. Nitrates in the environment: a critical review of their distribution, sensing techniques, ecological effects and remediation. Chemosphere 287, 131996. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.chemosphere.2021.131996.
- Sivasankar, P., Poongodi, S., Seedevi, P., Sivakumar, M., Murugan, T., Loganathan, S., 2019. Bioremediation of wastewater through a quorum sensing triggered MFC: a sustainable measure for waste to energy concept. J. Environ. Manag. 237, 84–93. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.jenvman.2019.01.075.
- Song, Y., Zhang, C., Ling, C.-Y., Han, M., Yong, R.-Y., Sun, D., Chen, J., 2020. Review on current research of materials, fabrication and application for bipolar plate in proton exchange membrane fuel cell. Int. J. Hydrog. Energy 45, 29832–29847. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.ijhydene.2019.07.231.
- Srinivasan, R., Nambi, I.M., Senthilnathan, J., 2019. Liquid crystal display electrode assisted bio-reactor for highly stable and enhanced biofilm attachment for wastewater treatment - a sustainable approach for e-waste management. Chem. Eng. J. 358, 1012–1021. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cej.2018.09.082.
- Su, D., Chen, Y., 2022. Advanced bioelectrochemical system for nitrogen removal in wastewater. Chemosphere 292, 133206. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2021.133206.
- Sun, J., Cao, H., Wang, Z., 2020. Progress in nitrogen removal in bioelectrochemical systems. Processes 8, 831. https://doi.org/10.3390/pr8070831.
- Sun, J., Hu, Y., Bi, Z., Cao, Y., 2009. Improved performance of air-cathode single-chamber microbial fuel cell for wastewater treatment using microfiltration membranes and multiple sludge inoculation. J. Power Sources 187, 471–479. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpowsour. 2008.11.022.
- Thakur, I.S., Medhi, K., 2019. Nitrification and denitrification processes for mitigation of nitrous oxide from waste water treatment plants for biovalorization: challenges and opportunities. Bioresour. Technol. 282, 502–513. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2019.03.069.
- Tran, H.V.H., Kim, E., Jung, S.P., 2022. Anode biofilm maturation time, stable cell performance time, and time-course electrochemistry in a single-chamber microbial fuel cell with a brushanode. J. Ind. Eng. Chem. 106, 269–278. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jiec.2021.11.001.
- Usikalu, M.R., Ayara, W., Ayanbisi, O., Fola-Emmanuel, A., Okechukwu, C., 2021. Assessment of quality of drinking water from Ogun State, Nigeria. IOP Conf. Ser. Earth Environ. Sci. 665, 012033. https://doi.org/10.1088/1755-1315/665/1/012033 (7 pp.)-012033 (7 pp.).
- Virdis, B., Rabaey, K., Yuan, Z., Keller, J., 2008. Microbial fuel cells for simultaneous carbon and nitrogen removal. Water Res. 42, 3013–3024. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres. 2008.03.017.
- Virdis, B., Rabaey, K., Yuan, Z., Rozendal, R.A., Keller, J., 2009. Electron fluxes in a microbial fuel cell performing carbon and nitrogen removal. Environ. Sci. Technol. 43, 5144–5149. https://doi.org/10.1021/es8036302.
- Virdis, B., Read, S.T., Rabaey, K., Rozendal, R.A., Yuan, Z., Keller, J., 2011. Biofilm stratification during simultaneous nitrification and denitrification (SND) at a biocathode. Bioresour. Technol. 102, 334–341. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2010.06.155.
- Wang, J.-J., Huang, B.-C., Li, J., Jin, R.-C., 2020a. Advances and challenges of sulfur-driven autotrophic denitri fi cation (SDAD) for nitrogen removal. Chin. Chem. Lett. 31, 2567–2574. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cclet.2020.07.036.
- Wang, K., Zhang, S., Chen, Z., Bao, R., 2018. Interactive effect of electrode potential on pollutants conversion in denitrifying sulfide removal microbial fuel cells. Chem. Eng. J. 339, 442–449. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cej.2018.01.114.
- Wang, R., Wang, X., Zhou, X., Yao, J., 2020b. Effect of anolytic nitrite concentration on electricity generation and electron transfer in a dual-chamber microbial fuel cell. Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 27, 9910–9918. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-019-07323-z.
- Wang, X., Prevoteau, A., Rabaey, K., 2021. Impact of periodic polarization on groundwater denitrification in bioelectrochemical systems. Environ. Sci. Technol. 55, 15371–15379. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.1c03586.
- Wang, X., Xin, J., Yuan, M., Zhao, F., 2020c. Electron competition and electron selectivity in abiotic, biotic, and coupled systems for dechlorinating chlorinated aliphatic hydrocarbons in groundwater: a review. Water Res. 183, 116060. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. watres.2020.116060.
- Wang, Y., Li, P., Zuo, J., Gong, Y., Wang, S., Shi, X., Zhang, M., 2018. Inhibition by free nitrous acid (FNA) and the electron competition of nitrite in nitrous oxide (N2O) reduction during hydrogenotrophic denitrification. Chemosphere 213, 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.chemosphere.2018.08.135.
- Wang, Y., Liu, C., Zhou, S., Hou, R., Zhou, L., Guan, F., Chen, R., Yuan, Y., 2021. Hierarchical N-doped C/Fe3O4 nanotube composite arrays grown on the carbon fiber cloth as a bioanode for high-performance bioelectrochemical system. Chem. Eng. J. 406, 126832. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cej.2020.126832.
- Wang, Y., Zhao, Y., Xu, L., Wang, W., Doherty, L., Tang, C., Ren, B., Zhao, J., 2017. Constructed wetland integrated microbial fuel cell system: looking back, moving forward. Water Sci. Technol. 76, 471–477. https://doi.org/10.2166/wst.2017.190.
- Xiao, Y., Wu, S., Yang, Z.-H., Wang, Z.-J., Yan, C.-Z., Zhao, F., 2013. In situ probing the effect of potentials on the microenvironment of heterotrophic denitrification biofilm with microelectrodes. Chemosphere 93, 1295–1300. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere. 2013.06.065.

- Xiao, Z., Awata, T., Zhang, D., Zhang, C., Li, Z., Katayama, A., 2016. Enhanced denitrification of pseudomonas stutzeri by a bioelectrochemical system assisted with solid-phase humin. J. Biosci. Bioeng. 122, 85–91. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbiosc.2015.11.004.
- Xu, L., Zhao, Y., Wang, X., Yu, W., 2018. Applying multiple bio-cathodes in constructed wetland-microbial fuel cell for promoting energy production and bioelectrical derived nitrification-denitrification process. Chem. Eng. J. 344, 105–113. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.cej.2018.03.065.
- Xu, X., Zhou, B., Ji, F., Zou, Q., Yuan, Y., Jin, Z., Zhao, D., Long, J., 2015. Nitrification, denitrification, and power generation enhanced by photocatalysis in microbial fuel cells in the absence of organic compounds. Energy Fuel 29, 1227–1232. https://doi.org/10.1021/ ef501755d.
- Yan, H., Saito, T., Regan, J.M., 2012. Nitrogen removal in a single-chamber microbial fuel cell with nitrifying biofilm enriched at the air cathode. Water Res. 46, 2215–2224. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2012.01.050.
- Yan, J., Hu, X., He, Q., Qin, H., Yi, D., Lv, D., Cheng, C., Zhao, Y., Chen, Y., 2021. Simultaneous enhancement of treatment performance and energy recovery using pyrite as anodic filling material in constructed wetland coupled with microbial fuel cells. Water Res. 201, 117333. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2021.117333.
- Yang, Q., Luo, D., Liu, X., Guo, T., Zhao, X., Zheng, X., Wang, W., 2021. Improving the anode performance of microbial fuel cell with carbon nanotubes supported cobalt phosphate catalyst. Bioelectrochemistry 142, 107941. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bioelechem.2021.107941.
- Yangin-Gomec, C., Pekyavas, G., Sapmaz, T., Aydin, S., Ince, B., Akyol, C., Ince, O., 2017. Microbial monitoring of ammonia removal in a UASB reactor treating pre-digested chicken manure with anaerobic granular inoculum. Bioresour. Technol. 241, 332–339. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2017.05.070.
- Yao, S., He, Y.-L., Song, B.-Y., Xi, K., Li, X.-Y., 2015. Improving the wetting properties of separator to enhance the performance of microbial fuel cells. Int. J. Heat Mass Transf. 89, 102–109. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijheatmasstransfer.2015.05.048.
 Yu, G., Peng, H., Fu, Y., Yan, X., Du, C., Chen, H., 2019. Enhanced nitrogen removal of low C/
- Yu, G., Peng, H., Fu, Y., Yan, X., Du, C., Chen, H., 2019. Enhanced nitrogen removal of low C/ N wastewater in constructed wetlands with co-immobilizing solid carbon source and denitrifying bacteria. Bioresour. Technol. 280, 337–344. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. biortech.2019.02.043.
- Zhang, B., Liu, Y., Tong, S., Zheng, M., Zhao, Y., Tian, C., Liu, H., Feng, C., 2014. Enhancement of bacterial denitrification for nitrate removal in groundwater with electrical stimulation from microbial fuel cells. J. Power Sources 268, 423–429. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jpowsour.2014.06.076.
- Zhang, F., He, Z., 2012. Integrated organic and nitrogen removal with electricity generation in a tubular dual-cathode microbial fuel cell. Process Biochem. 47, 2146–2151. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.procbio.2012.08.002.
- Zhang, H., Ge, C., Yu, M., Zhang, J., Wang, Y., Cai, L., Yang, F., 2020. Performance of cathodic nitrate reduction driven by electricity generated from ANAMMOX sludge in anode. Process Biochem. 90, 148–155. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.procbio.2019.11.013.
- Zhang, I.H., Mullen, S., Ciccarese, D., Dumit, D., Martocello, D.E., Toyofuku, M., Nomura, N., Smriga, S., Babbin, A.R., 2021. Ratio of electron donor to acceptor influences metabolic specialization and denitrification dynamics in Pseudomonas aeruginosa in a mixed carbon medium. Front. Microbiol. 12, 711073. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2021.711073.
- Zhang, K., Yang, S., Luo, H., Chen, J., An, X., Chen, W., Zhang, X., 2022. Enhancement of nitrogen removal and energy recovery from low C/N ratio sewage by multi-electrode electrochemical technology and tidal flow via siphon aeration. Chemosphere 299, 134376. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2022.134376.
- Zhang, Q., Liu, L., 2020. A microbial fuel cell system with manganese dioxide/titanium dioxide/graphitic carbon nitride coated granular activated carbon cathode successfully treated organic acids industrial wastewater with residual nitric acid. Bioresour. Technol. 304, 122992. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2020.122992.
- Zhang, S., Tong, W., Wang, M., 2021. Graphene-modified biochar anode on the electrical performance of MFC. Ferroelectrics 578, 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1080/00150193.2021.1902759.
- Zhang, Y., Yang, K., Yu, H., Shan, W., Lou, Z., Xiong, Y., 2021. Boosting deionization capability by effectively improving sodium-ion storage capacity based on robust interfacial electronic interaction within 3D Na4Ti9O20/N-doped porous carbon heterostructures. J. Mater. Chem. A 9, 24374–24386. https://doi.org/10.1039/dl1a06369c.
- Zhao, Y., Cao, X., Song, X., Zhao, Z., Wang, Y., Si, Z., Lin, F., Chen, Y., Zhang, Y., 2018. Montmorillonite supported nanoscale zero-valent iron immobilized in sodium alginate (SA/Mt-NZVI) enhanced the nitrogen removal in vertical flow constructed wetlands (VFCWs). Bioresour. Technol. 267, 608–617. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2018.07.072.
- Zheng, D., Gu, W., Zhou, Q., Zhang, L., Wei, C., Yang, Q., Li, D., 2020. Ammonia oxidation and denitrification in a bio-anode single -chambered microbial electrolysis cell. Bioresour. Technol. 310, 123466. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2020.123466.
- Zhou, L., Tan, S.H., Ahmad, A.L., Low, S.C., 2021. High-flux strategy for electrospun nanofibers in membrane distillation to treat aquaculture wastewater: a review. J. Chem. Technol. Biotechnol. 96, 3259–3272. https://doi.org/10.1002/jctb.6828.
- Zhou, Y., Pijuan, M., Zeng, R.J., Yuan, Z., 2008. Free nitrous acid inhibition on nitrous oxide reduction by a denitrifying-enhanced biological phosphorus removal sludge. Environ. Sci. Technol. 42, 8260–8265. https://doi.org/10.1021/es800650j.
- Zhu, M., Fan, J., Zhang, M., Li, Z., Yang, J., Liu, X., Wang, X., 2021. Current intensities altered the performance and microbial community structure of a bio-electrochemical system. Chemosphere 265, 129069. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2020.129069.
- Zhu, T., Zhang, Y., Liu, Y., Zhao, Z., 2021. Electrostimulation enhanced ammonium removal during Fe(III) reduction coupled with anaerobic ammonium oxidation (Feammox) process. Sci. Total Environ. 751, 141703. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.141703.
- Zhu, T., Zhang, Y., Quan, X., Li, H., 2015. Effects of an electric field and iron electrode on anaerobic denitrification at low C/N ratios. Chem. Eng. J. 266, 241–248. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.cej.2014.12.082.
- Zhu-Barker, X., Cavazos, A.R., Ostrom, N.E., Horwath, W.R., Glass, J.B., 2015. The importance of abiotic reactions for nitrous oxide production. Biogeochemistry 126, 251–267. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s10533-015-0166-4.